

School of Labor and Employment Relations 814-865-5425

The Pennsylvania State University 506 Keller Building University Park, PA 16802-2800 814-865-5425 Fax: 814-867-4169 ler.la.psu.edu

Worker Voice: A Literature Review

Center for Global Workers' Rights

The Pennsylvania State University

ICF and The Pennsylvania State University Center for Global Workers' Rights Worker Voice Policy Research (Project No. 1605C2-20-A-0002)
United States Department of Labor International Labor Affairs Bureau.
Authors: Matthew Fischer-Daly (lead author) and Mark Anner

November 9, 2023 (amended March 25, 2024)

DISCLAIMER: This report was prepared for the United States Department of Labor under project No. 1605C2-20-A-0002. The authors' views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the views of the United States Department of Labor.



Abstract

Worker voice is a topic on which scholars and practitioners have written for well over a century, and the interest in the topic has only grown over time, particularly since the 1980s. Yet, what exactly is meant by 'worker voice'? And when and why is it effective, and when is it not? This literature review seeks to provide answers to these questions. It does so through an exploration of scholarship from diverse fields, including sociology, economics, political science, history, industrial relations, labor studies, and business management. It provides a systematic overview of the topics discussed under the concept of "worker voice." Cutting across our approach to the literature is an attempt not only to define worker voice and its components and explore its numerous manifestations, but also to understand outcomes. When do worker voice mechanisms result in concrete and significant changes in terms and conditions of employment?

Studies have addressed the motivations, organizations, social implications, public policies, scope, and effects of such worker participation in the employment relationship. Scholarly attention to the concept of "voice" gained prominence through the adaptation of the loyaltyvoice-exit model that Albert Hirschman (1970) developed from observing consumer behavior in the mid-20th Century. Subsequent interpretations of the model considered both collective and individual channels of communication on employment relations. In employment relations, the most significant application of the Hirschman model was the book What do Unions Do? by Richard Freeman and James Medoff (1984), who find that where workers have a strong voice through trade unions, workers are less likely to quit. Simultaneously, accelerating international activity prompted greater attention to the contingent character of mechanisms through which workers exercise voice. The literature review first identifies contributions and debates chronologically. Secondly, it turns to evident themes. We find that this long knowledge-building process has highlighted that workers most effectively exercise voice when mechanisms are collective, democratic, inclusive, protected, enabling, and empowering. The third part of the review introduces cases of efforts toward effective worker voice mechanisms, which evince the challenges involved and are further explored in this project's final report.

Contents

Abstract	2
Methodology	4
Worker Voice literature, big picture overview	6
Chronological history of worker voice in the literature	8
Worker voice and industrial democracy	8
Worker Voice, freedom of association, and collective bargaining rights	9
Governmental policy on workers' rights	10
Union effects on workplaces, economic activity, and society	11
International economic activity and worker voice	16
Individual voice in human resource management practices	17
Contemporary debates and findings on worker voice	19
Challenges to worker voice in contemporary employment	19
Worker innovations to exercise voice	23
A framework for understanding worker voice in the contemporary global economy	25
Relevant literature on case studies that inform the framework of worker voice	27
Enforceable brand agreements (EBAs)	27
Plurilateral trade and investment treaties and trade union organizing	28
Trade unions, worker centers, and political advocacy in agriculture	29
"Justice corridors" for migrant workers in Central and North America	31
Worker voice and authoritarian regimes	32
Worker voice in domestic work	33
Worker voice and ending child labor and forced labor	34
Worker voice in digital platform-mediated employment	35
Worker-driven research	35
Conclusion	36
References	37

Methodology

The United States Department of Labor (DOL) International Labor Affairs Bureau (ILAB) is implementing the Multilateral Partnership for Organizing, Worker Empowerment, and Rights (M-POWER) focused on ensuring that working families thrive in the global economy and elevating the role of trade unions and organized workers as essential to advancing democracy. Under M-POWER, ILAB initiated the Worker Voice Policy Research Services project with the implementing partners ICF and the Pennsylvania State University (PSU) Center for Global Workers' Rights (CGWR). The project aims to inform policymakers and practitioners about worker voice and the most effective methods for promoting it. Through this literature review, interviews, roundtable and focus group discussions with expert scholars and practitioners, and a series of case studies, the project is exploring the following key questions:

- 1. What is and what is not contemplated by the concept worker voice?
- 2. What elements are essential for the effective exercise of worker voice?
- 3. What insights are highlighted for the exercise of worker voice by worker efforts to organize and collectively bargain throughout the international political economy, especially in extraordinarily challenging contexts?
- 4. What are the most effective ways to promote freedom of association and collective bargaining rights throughout global supply chains?
- 5. What are key areas of law that support effective exercise of worker voice?
- 6. What are the most effective methods for promoting worker voice through policy interventions and technical assistance programs?

The literature on 'worker voice' could fill a small library. A simple Google Scholar search indicates 5,610 scholarly publications related to the topic, of which 1,970 were published since 2019. Hence, sorting through this literature requires a methodology with clear objectives. For our purposes, we are interested in forms of worker voice that empower workers to improve their terms and conditions of work, and to do so in ways that are inclusive of marginalized groups in society. Thus, we are less interested in literature on individual voice mechanisms, which restrict the scope of workplace issues to individual employee experiences, discount the power dynamics of the collective relationship between companies and workers, and are the focus of a considerable amount of the literature. We are more interested in collective voice mechanisms, which have potential to redistribute power and enable less-privileged production, service, and agricultural workers to shift from precarious toward decent work.

The second core component of our methodological approach for this literature review is use of the most credible and relevant sources. Credible sources focus on peer-reviewed journal articles, most notably in the relevant fields' top ranked journals. They also include books published by top academic press. Research reports with rigorous methodology by academic, international, governmental, non-governmental, trade union, and media organizations are an

¹ See https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/multilateral-partnership-for-organizing-worker-empowerment-and-rights-m-power-initiative

additional credible source. Relevant sources suggest the need to focus the literature review on findings related to the topic. In our case, the decision to focus on 'collective voice,' means that we will not be providing an extensive literature review on publications that are primarily concerned with individual voice mechanisms, although we will reference some of this literature to better conceptualize our working definition of collective worker voice.

Compiling a robust set of literature for this review involved four stages. First, a search was conducted through the library systems of Cornell University and the Pennsylvania State University, two academic institutions with dedicated labor and employment relations schools. Primary search terms used were "worker voice," "worker organization," "trade union", "collective bargaining", "union effects", "labor policy", "labor law", "international labor law", and "international labor standards". Searches covered the 19th century through to the present, the period when robust development of the concept of worker voice and parallel public policies occurred. Second, preliminary lists of sources were vetted with widely recognized academic experts on worker voice. Third, a wide range of academic and practitioner experts on worker voice provided recommended sources at the request of the project. Fourth, highly cited publications referenced in the sources consulted through these first three stages were added.

The literature review references 293 sources, selected from a broader consultation of 450. The sources are from academic (83%), non-governmental (6%), international (5%), trade union (3%), governmental (1%), and media (1%) organizations. We sought out the broadest ranges of scholars possible to cover in this review. One of our findings is that scholars writing on worker voice tend to be concentrated in the US, Canada, the UK, Australia, and India where the term is in greatest use. We sought to address that by ensuring a geographic dispersion on the country and regional focus on research studies: 129 (44%) sources focus internationally, meaning observations are from multiple countries. The remainder focus on North America (32%), Europe (10%), Asia (9%), Central and South America (3%), and Africa (1%).

The literature review is designed to present a systematic overview of worker voice in order to support the broader ILAB Worker Voice Policy Research project defining worker voice. The review begins with the theoretical development of the concept of worker voice (section 3.1). Next, it addresses contemporary debates and findings on worker voice (3.2). The following sections cover first the literature on themes from worker voice literature that support a framework for understanding the concept, and second literature on case studies demonstrating the theory in practice. The review concludes by highlighting areas of consensus and areas for future research on worker voice.

Worker Voice literature, big picture overview

The concept worker voice refers to the capacity of workers to speak up, articulate, and ultimately improve the terms and conditions of their employment, their livelihood. "Voice" as a means of achieving change was first conceptualized by sociologist Albert Hirschman (1970). In Hirschman's exit-voice-loyalty model, a consumer can remain loyal by accepting a retailer's offerings, exit the retailer, or use voice—that is, use purchasing power to convince the retailer to change offerings. The labor economists Richard Freeman and James Medoff adapted Hirschman's (1984) exit-voice-loyalty model to explain their observations of the effects of trade unions. With bargaining power based in collective organization, unions use collective bargaining and union grievance procedures to improve terms and conditions of employment, reduce worker turnover, and enhance productivity (Freeman and Medoff 1984). Worker voice, as conceptualized by Freeman and Medoff, therefore refers not to any form of communication between workers and managers, but to those forms of communication capable of achieving shared gains from the employment relationship.

The origins of the concept worker voice point to the importance of reviewing literature on the longstanding question 'how workers articulate and advance their interests in employment relationships,' regardless of whether the phrase "worker voice" is used. Indeed, "worker voice" does not often translate well into other languages. For example, the terms "voz de trabajador" or "voz de empleado/a" is almost unheard of in Spanish. For observers in the 19th and early 20th centuries, understanding the industrial revolution meant studying workers' livelihood strategies. These early scholars of "worker voice" identified democratically operating unions leveraging employer's dependence on their labor as the means through which workers represent their interests in modern society. With "industrial democracy," Beatrice and Sidney Webb (1897) observed that political democracy requires the democratic participation of workers in establishing the rules governing the employment relationship. This nexus between democracy at work and social justice and peace underpinned the establishment of the International Labor Organization (ILO) in 1919 and national policies supporting collective bargaining between unions and employers. Indeed, the governance structure of the ILO is unique in that it includes the participation (voice) of labor, as well as employers and governments.

The adaptation of the exit-voice-loyalty model to employment relations in the 1980s arrived at a time when employer and government support for collective bargaining was in decline. It was a conjuncture of geographic expansion of markets (globalization), higher returns on capital and thus more allocation of investment in financial relative to productive activities (financialization), and the neoliberal ideology of increasing the role of market forces on employment relations. In this context, employers increasingly exercised their power to avoid collective bargaining by making the "strategic choice" to do so (Kochan, Katz, and McKersie 1994), government protection of workers' collective bargaining rights weakened (Howell 2021), and union density, collective bargaining coverage, and strike leverage declined (Rosenfeld 2006a).

The use of "voice" to refer to communications between individuals at workplaces emerged as part of increasingly widespread use of human resource management (HRM) practices, primarily in English-speaking countries. Strategically able to avoid collective bargaining, employers developed mechanisms to gain information from employees to optimize business competitiveness (Budd, Gollan, and Wilkinson 2010; Farndale, McDonnell, Scholarios, and Wilkinson 2020). Some scholars associate worker voice, understood as individual communication of concerns over employer conduct, with 'whistleblowing' (Van Dyne and LePine 1998), a voice mechanism that is reliant on moral suasion and managing risks of retaliation. Voice as an HRM practice thus marked a departure from worker voice as a means of change based on workers' collective power. Studies of HRM consistently and unsurprisingly find that worker use of HRM mechanisms does not affect distributional questions, such as remuneration (Budd, Gollan, and Wilkinson 2010; Donaghey, Dundon, and Dobbins 2012; Mowbray, Wilkinson, and Tse 2015; Brewster, Croucher, and Prosser 2019). Reflecting the development of HRM, use of the individual concept of "voice" is most prevalent in studies in the United States and United Kingdom.

Internationally, studies of how workers improve the terms and conditions of employment do not necessarily use "worker voice" and nevertheless inform understanding of the concept. The international literature highlights that workers are concerned with distributional questions (Li and Kuruvilla 2022) and, as individuals, tend to face retaliation rather than improvements in their terms and conditions of employment when speaking up (Anner 2015; Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016). Furthermore, scholars find that workers' diverse experiences are shaped by the interactions between class and other socially constructed hierarchies, including gender, race, and nationality in workplaces, collective organizations, and society more broadly (Roediger, Porter Benson, Gapasin, Dillahunt, and Quan 2001; Fischer-Daly and Anner 2021; Lee and Tapia 2021; Lee, Davis-Faulkner, Williams, and Tapia 2022). Voice mechanisms are thus embedded in interactive power relations.

In sum, this review of literature on worker voice encompasses approaches to the question how workers improve terms and conditions of employment. It begins with a chronological review of the literature, tracing responses to this question from the scholars of early modernization to contemporary, internationally focused studies. Patterns across this literature suggest that effective worker voice is collective, democratic, empowered, protected, inclusive, and enabled. The penultimate section elaborates these components as a framework for understanding effective worker voice. The final section then presents literature on a series of case studies that are elaborated in this project's final report to further develop the framework. In different contexts, using distinct mechanisms, and with different results, each case offers insights to the question how workers engage with employers, state representatives and other power holders in society to improve their terms and conditions of employment, and what are the outcomes of that engagement. That is, we seek to explore when, why, and how worker voice is most effective at multiple scales in society.

Chronological history of worker voice in the literature

Worker voice and industrial democracy

The phenomenon of worker voice began attracting the attention of scholars studying the industrial revolution, primarily of the 19th century, as increasingly more people sought to meet their basic needs and those of their families through employment (Webb 1902; Wood 2002). Billions of people entered labor markets as wage workers seeking compensation that provides a livelihood. Two decades into the 21st century, three and a half billion people participate in labor markets, according to the World Bank, and another half billion seek additional work, reports the International Labour Organization (ILO).² Yet, the enduring question is whether workers have a say in the terms and conditions of their labor, and, if so, what form this takes.

What early industrialization era scholars observed was workers increasingly formed organizations. That is, the response to the worker voice deficit was a collective response. In Sidney and Beatrice Webb's (1897: 850) explanation, "The very fact that, in modern society, the individual thus necessarily loses control over his own life, makes him desire to regain collectively what has become individually impossible." Negotiating terms and conditions of employment is not possible for most individual workers but requires workers to act collectively (Webb 1902; Commons 1909; Katz 1993; OECD 2019: 13). Workers collective action counters individual competition and prevents immiseration resulting from business competition by securing wage increases in alignment with increases in prices and working hours (Webb 1902). In a classic industry study that formed a foundation for the field of industrial relations, John R. Commons (1909) observed that workers organized to protect themselves from continuously emerging "competitive menaces" as market expansion changed their position from direct (craft) producer to employee at a company operating in international markets. Subsequently, historian Marcel van der Linden (2008: 11) defined labor collective action as "more or less coordinated action by a group of workers (and, perhaps, allies) to attain a specified objective, which they would be unable to achieve individually within the same time frame with the means available to them."

While labor and product markets expanded, political systems increasingly shifted toward democracy, and scholars observed an interdependency between political and economic democracy. In the United Kingdom, Sydney and Beatrice Webb (1897) articulated this dependency in *Industrial Democracy*, which, they argue, requires workers organizing associations that raise independent revenue, elect representatives, and engage in collective bargaining, mutual aid, and political advocacy (Webb and Webb 1897). Thus, for the Webbs, industrial democracy entails collective, democratic, elected, and independent worker organizations. These components of worker voice contribute to our contemporary definition of

² The World Bank indicator "Labor force, total" includes people employed and unemployed but seeking work (World Bank n.d.). The ILO estimates 470 million people sought more work, including 188 million unemployed, 165 seeking more hours of work, and 120 million people not classified as unemployed because they are not currently looking but will need work (ILO 2020a:12).

effective worker voice. The Webbs also argued that industrial democracy would be a "bulwark against social oppression," perceived as "hostile" by "autocrats" and otherwise "a necessary element in the democratic state" (1897: 808, 824-5). They thus anticipated that industrial democracy (what is known today as "worker voice") would come under attack in authoritarian regimes, such as the ones we see now in Myanmar and Belarus.

In the United States context, economist J.A. Estey (1928: 208) concurred, writing, "It is a fundamental doctrine of political democracy that one should have some voice in regard to matters that vitally affect him." And Albert Rees (1962) concluded that unions are as important for political democracy as they are for voice in the workplace. Leary finds the recognition that "democracy necessarily implies the right of association, including the right to form and join trade unions" rests on the "link between workers' rights and peace" (Leary, quoted in Atleson, Compa, Rittich, Sharpe, and Weiss 2008: 112). Scholars have also identified that democratizing work strengthens democracy throughout society by improving decision-making and increasing support for inclusive policies (Ferreras, Battilana, Méda, Mouillot 2022; Cornell and Barenberg 2022). Furthermore, large sample-size studies of the industrial-political democracy nexus have found that increased voice at work is associated with "greater political engagement" (Budd, Lamare, and Timming 2018). Through an analysis of 700 elections in 54 countries in 5 continents spanning 75 years, John Budd and Ryan Lamare (2021) found that pro-worker policy proposals increased a political party's electoral success.

Worker Voice, freedom of association, and collective bargaining rights

Since at least the 19th century,³ trade unions emerged as the most consistent worker voice mechanism for countering the tendency of the modern economic system to treat workers not as human beings but rather as if they were a commodity, whose price (wage) was set only by market forces (Polanyi 1944). As noted by Lance Compa (2000: 19), they are the most common form for expression of freedom of association, "the bedrock workers' right under international law on which all other labor rights rest." The "union" description indicates the collective character of these worker organizations. The "trade" description reflects the historical emergence of unions among craft workers (Montgomery 1979). Its persistence stems perhaps from the observed sequence of individuals recognizing common interests among peers sharing a trade, a workplace, industry, and society (Mann 1973).

Trade unions' activities have been categorized in three areas of collective bargaining to improve terms and conditions of employment, provision of mutual aid to workers, and advocacy for public policies that support workers' interests (Webb and Webb 1896; Eaton, Schurman, and Chen 2017). Trade unions are designed as democratic organizations, with workers representing their members, contributing revenue, meeting and voting on decisions, including organizational constitutions and employment contracts (Webb and Webb 1896, 1897; Strauss 1991; Katz, Kochan, and Colvin 2017). When individual unions have not operated sufficiently democratically, they have lost capacity to function (Montgomery 1979; Fletcher and Gapasin

³ Their emergence may date back to the 16th century (van der Linden 2008: 221).

2008; Gumbrell-McCormick and Hyman 2019; Pitkin 2022). Recognizing that workers' capacity to collectively bargain depends on their ability to retract labor power from employers, governments and international organizations have established the right to strike within reasonable limits as customary law (Compa 2000; ITUC 2014; Vogt et al. 2020).

Governmental policy on workers' rights

Governments protect worker voice because of its social function. By distributing wealth, the worker voice mechanism of unionism creates "a better balance between conflicting forces" (Atleson et al. 2008: 115). From the international perspective, workers exercising power to improve terms and conditions of employment contributes to "peace [which] can only be established if it is based upon social justice," as stated in Treaty of Versailles establishing the ILO. Based on this observation, governments worldwide have enacted policies encouraging collective bargaining between unions and employers as a mechanism for exercising voice, here understood as the means for workers to coordinate with employers and governments in establishing and implementing rules of work and society (Dunlop 1958). It is in this sense that the ILO (2022: 30) observes "Collective bargaining is at once an enabling right, a voluntary negotiation process carried out by autonomous parties and a substantive regulatory outcome." The ILO (2022: 15, 63) reports 35.2% of workers in 98 countries have their employment terms and conditions regulated through collective agreements as of 2020.

While the 187 member states and employer and worker representatives to the ILO recognize union collective bargaining as the voice mechanism to which all workers have a right, national policy approaches to union collective bargaining vary. One key dimension is the existence and stringency of thresholds for unions to be legally recognized as bargaining representatives of workers, which can limit collective bargaining (ILO 2022: 53). Another is the existence and robustness of state provided systems for conciliation, mediation, and arbitration, which support collective bargaining (ILO 2022: 55). Coverage of collective bargaining agreements also varies. Both the ILO (2022: 69) and OECD (2019) highlight enhanced capacity to manage change provided by broad coverage, either through extension—legal application of contractual standards to all firms in a sector or area, *erga omnes* clauses—legal application to all workers concerned, or adhesion/participation norms—voluntary commitments by the parties to adhere to agreements. Coordination between firm-, sector-, and national-level bargaining contributes to broadly shared benefits (OECD 2019).

National models take different approaches. Dual systems of union sectoral bargaining and codetermination structures of worker-elected councils at the workplace and representatives on firm boards are widespread in Europe, where union density and collective bargaining coverage rates are relatively high. Twenty European countries legally mandate co-determination. By themselves, co-determination bodies have little capacity to dramatically improve terms and conditions of employment (Gumbrell-McCormick and Hyman 2006; Jäger, Noy, and Schoefer 2021). This is because they do not provide structures providing worker control over production processes and sufficient influence over investment decisions (Meidner 1978, 1993; Gumbrell-McCormick and Hyman 2019). However, legal mandates support firm participation in co-

determination, and union collective bargaining enables co-determination to contribute to outcomes such as higher productivity, wages, and worker retention by facilitating problem solving through separately assigning distributive bargaining to unions and integrative bargaining to co-determination bodies (Addison, Schnabel; and Wagner 2001; Jäger et al. 2021; Walton and McKersie 1965). Virginia Doellgast (2010: 286) found, "co-determination is most effective when backed by a union with some measure of bargaining power." This finding was supported by subsequent research by Chris Brewster, Richard Croucher, and Thomas Prosser (2019) and Berndt Keller and Anja Kirsch (2021). Declining union representation and collective bargaining coverage weakened the ability of the dual system to deliver such effects in Germany in recent years, as would thus be expected (Jaehrling & Méhaut 2013; Pulignano, Meardi, and Doerflinger 2015; Keller and Kirsch 2021).

National systems in other regions have further demonstrated the importance of trade unions and collective bargaining, and their limits when they are weakened. In South Africa, sectoral agreements have increased productivity without benefiting workers as lead firms in the sectors have opted out of collective bargaining between their suppliers and production workers (Godfrey, Elsley, and Taal 2017). In the Philippines, a policy of a minimum wage rate and voluntary productivity-based additional pay did not link wages and productivity, by specifying management-worker committees as the forum for contingent-pay setting, instead of collective bargaining (Serrano 2016). A pay-productivity gap has also been observed in the United States, in part due to employer strategic choice to avoid union collective bargaining (Mishel and Bivens 2021; Kochan, Katz, and McKersie 1994).

The US labor relations system is notably characterized by a worker-voice gap: more workers seek the capacity to influence terms and conditions of their employment than have it. That gap has grown for forty years (Kochan 1979; Kochan et al. 2019). On paper, the US system is based on principles of protected freedom of association, trade union independence, worker choice of union representative, worker ability to change or decertify unions, defined "appropriate" bargaining units, majority rule, certification of unions by labor law authorities, exclusive representation, a duty to bargain, and the right to strike for a new collective agreement (Compa 2014). Leading scholars once expected the US system to serve as a model internationally (Kerr, Harbison, Dunlop, and Myers 1960). However, contemporary scholars highlight several obstacles to collective bargaining, including: permission of permanent replacement of striking workers, proscription of solidarity actions among workers and unions, exclusions of agricultural, domestic, undocumented, incarcerated workers from protections, permission of employer resistance to collective bargaining, weak penalties for violations, procedurally-facilitated obstruction of first contract bargaining, deportations of international migrant workers, denial of voice to workers when no union passes the threshold for bargaining rights, and restrictions of bargaining to workplaces and to wages, hours, and working conditions (Compa 2000; Block and Sachs 2020; Kochan et al. 2022).

Union effects on workplaces, economic activity, and society

Union collective bargaining affects not only individual parties to an agreement but also society. In (neo)classical economics, unions limit consumption possibilities by using monopoly over labor markets to force misallocations of capital by companies always behaving rationally in perfectly competitive markets (Simons 1944; Harberger 1964; Kaufman 2008). However, robust studies in the industrial relations and institutional economics fields find that trade unions contribute to balancing equity and productivity through collective bargaining, which is necessary due to conflicting interests and is possible due to overlapping interests of employers and workers (Webb and Webb 1896, 1897; Commons 1959; Dunlop 1958; Katz, Kochan, and Colvin 2017; Budd 2021).

Studies have consistently found that unions contribute to reducing inequality at work and in society. Richard Freeman and James Medoff's What Do Unions Do (WDUD,1984) presented findings that unions reduce inequality by reducing intra-firm wage differentials—with greater gains for the least paid—and setting standard industry wage rates, reduce quit rates, alter firm responses to economic cycles by enabling negotiated mitigation measures, and increase productivity. They explained the findings by adapting Albert Hirschman's (1970) exit-voiceloyalty model of consumer behavior to employment relations, observing that the voice provided to workers by unions, especially in collective bargaining and grievance procedures, increases worker retention by providing options other than quitting or enduring unsatisfactory conditions. More significantly than the popularization of "worker voice" as a term, Freeman and Medoff's WDUD prompted a subdiscipline of industrial relations applying econometric methods to consider union effects. A meta-analysis of more than 300 studies of union impacts in multiple countries from 1973 through 2014 corroborated findings of Freeman and Medoff (1984) that unions reduce inequality and turnover (Doucouliagos, Freeman, and Laroche 2017). The metaanalysis study also found a statistically significant negative correlation between unionization and profits, leading the authors to conclude, "At the heart of trade union effects on the economy is a shift in income from capital to labor" (Doucouliagos et al. 2017: 145).

Robust findings of econometric studies have contributed to a consensus that union collective bargaining reduces inequality society-wide. Studies have found equity enhancing effects of union collective bargaining in multiple countries (Rosenfeld 2006b; Hayter and Weinberg 2011; Visser and Checchi 2011; Western and Rosenfeld 2011; Hayter 2015; Rosenfeld, Denice, and Laird 2016; Morissey 2021). Across countries and over time, unionization is associated with lower income inequality, as measured by ratios of wage distribution percentiles (Blau and Kahn 1996; Card, Lemieux, and Riddell 2004; Farber et al. 2021; Pontusson and Rueda 2010, Pontusson 2013; Western and Rosenfeld 2011; Ahlquist 2017). In its flagship report on collective bargaining, the ILO (2022: Figure 3.3.) presents data showing that countries with higher collective bargaining coverage lower the income gap between the top 10% and bottom 10%. Other studies also measure union effects on Gini coefficients, which measure inequality. Florence Jaumotte and Carolina Osorio Buitron (2020) calculated that union density decline accounted for 40% of inequality and increased Gini coefficients in 20 countries from 1980 to 2011, due to increased allocation to the highest income brackets. In the United States, scholars found that "The rise in unionization explains over one-fourth of the 1936–68 decline in the Gini coefficient [societal inequality] and, conversely, its decline explains over one-tenth of the rise in the Gini coefficient after 1968" (Farber, Berbst, Kuziemko, and Naidu 2021: 1328), an updated finding from a similar previous study (Card 1998). Over lifetimes in the United States, union membership is associated with a \$1.3 million mean increase in earnings, a higher premium than gained from college completion (Parolin and VanHeuvelen 2023), reflecting a union wage premium of 15-17% (Freeman and Medoff 1984; Robinson 1989; Card 1996; USDOL 2022).

Studies have identified several mechanisms through which unions as a worker voice mechanism reduce inequality. Raising the lowest wage rates compresses wage differentials (Card, Lemieux, and Riddell 2003; Vaughan-Whitehead and Vazquez-Alvarez 2018: 43). Higher rates of collective bargaining coverage are associated with lower incidence of low pay, specifically the share of workers earning less than two-thirds of median earnings (Metcalf, Hansen, and Charlwood 2001; Bosch 2015). Coordinated bargaining systems and high collective bargaining coverage are associated with higher employment, more integration of vulnerable groups of workers, and lower wage inequality than countries with fully decentralized bargaining systems (Garnero 2020; OECD 2019). In developing countries, informal employment and low levels of collective bargaining increase the importance of formalizing labor markets and minimum wage regulation (Cornia 2014), to which unions contribute (Chattaraj 2016). One study suggested that the shift from artisan to factory production increased demand for and productivity of unskilled workers, conditions supporting unions to achieve higher wages for more workers, while the shift from factory- to information-based economic growth eroded these conditions (Dinlersoz and Greenwood 2012). Another study found that the removal of the "threat effect" (non-union employers raising wages to avoid unionization) doubled the share of increased income inequality accounted for by de-unionization 1979-2017 (Fortin, Lemieux, and Lloyd 2021).

Greater balance of working time is also associated with union collective bargaining. Collective bargaining has been found to support agreements on working time options that meet firm needs for variability and workers' needs for autonomy (ILO 2022: 82; Klenner and Lott 2016; Schulten and Bispinck 2017). In low- and middle-income countries, collective agreements increase compliance with statutory standards on working time (ILO 2022: 81).

Union collective bargaining contributes to equality by supporting the interests of marginalized groups. A study on the US and UK concluded, "there is evidence—confirmed in this paper—that unions are particularly good at protecting the wages of the most vulnerable workers" (Blanchflower and Bryson 2003: 30). The union wage premium most significantly raises incomes of racially marginalized and the lowest-paid workers and thus reduce pay gaps, as found in South Africa (Butcher and Rouse 2001) and the United States (Pitts 2008; Rosenfeld and Kleykamp 2017). Unionization can also reduce racial prejudices (Frymer and Grumbach 2020). Union representation is found to reduce the gender pay gap, in the United States by 16 cents per dollar (Gould and McNicholas 2017). Centralized collective bargaining structures have been found to contribute to reducing the gender-pay gap (Blau and Kahn 2003). Anner (2022) found unions and collective bargaining reduced the gender pay gap by one third in the Honduras apparel sector. Anner (2023) also found that women workers covered by collective bargaining agreements in the Guatemalan banana sector were 7.25 times less likely to face gender-based violence at work. In addition to pay, collective bargaining agreements have been found to

counter gender-based violence GBV by defining sexual harassment, including protocols to prevent sexual harassment, commit management and workers to investigate complaints, and create committees to assist victims (ILO 2022: 99). Collective bargaining can also support parenting by providing workers with leaves and maternity protection (Baird and Murray 2014; Julén Votinius 2020). Many collective bargaining agreements provide protections against dismissal of pregnant women, special accommodations for pregnant workers, spaces for breastfeeding, childcare, flexible work scheduling for childcare, and consultation rights on parental leave and work changes during absence (ILO 2022: 98).

Unionization can contribute to these and additional social equality outcomes by increasing workers' influence on a range of corporate decisions. Job security effects include reduced exposure to underemployment (Artz, Blanchflower, and Bryson 2021), more stable work schedules (Golden 2015), prevention of employment loss during economic downturns and return to full capacity when economic demand increased (González Fernández 2013; Flecker and Schönauer 2013; Glassner, Keune, and Marginson 2011), and increased regulation of probationary periods, notice periods, severance pay, temporary and fixed-term contracts (ILO 2022: 88). Union collective bargaining has also found to mitigate monopsonistic⁴ power of employers in labor markets (Kaufman 2012), a phenomenon increasingly highlighted by economists (Ashenfelter et al. 2021). It also may provide workers with the ability to place limits on executive pay (Jaumotte and Buitron 2020). Another study found that unions can reduce work-related stress (O'Brady and Doellgast 2021).

In the "gig" economy, collective agreements negotiated in the 2010s regulated working time, pay, social protection, data protection, leaves, costs of use of vehicles and other tools, personal protective equipment, severance pay, protection from discrimination in various countries, including the United Kingdom, Denmark, Germany, Norway, Austria, Spain, Italy, Switzerland, Republic of Korea (ILO 2022: 90, Box 3.4). Furthermore, 23% of 512 collective bargaining agreements in 21 countries reviewed by the ILO support environmental sustainability goals, including through employment transition planning, management of emissions and waste, upgrading industrial processes, reuse of outputs previously discarded, shifting to renewable energy sources, reduction of natural resource consumption, and mitigating impacts of wastewater discharge (ILO 2022: 93).

In an era when half the world's population, 4.1 billion people, lack any social protection (ILO 2021b), union collective bargaining is widely found to increase worker welfare. In countries without universal healthcare, collective agreements have provided healthcare access through healthcare funds in South Africa (Budlender and Sadeck 2007), reimbursement of healthcare expenses in Canada, firm-level medical check-ups in Bangladesh and Cambodia, HIV/AIDS programs in Tanzania, and birth-related maternal healthcare in Uganda (ILO 2022: 86). Researchers found that unions facilitate workers' accessing statutory social benefits in Ghana,

⁴ Monopsony power, or a buyer's ability to set the price of what they are purchasing, in labor markets refers to an employer's capacity to set wages, typically due to insufficient competition for workers in a labor market (see Ashenfelter et al. 2021 for a review of recent studies of the issue).

including social security, paid leaves, and severance pay (Owoo et al. 2020). In the United States, studies have found that collective bargaining contributes to better health (Sochas and Reeves 2022), health care access (Banarjee et al. 2021), and voter turnout (EPI 2021), a means to influence social systems. Studying unions in the United Kingdom, David Blanchflower and Alex Bryson (2021) found positive effects of union membership on life satisfaction and happiness. Multi-employer bargaining has supported social protection programs through collective financing in a number of countries (Natali, Pavolini and Vanhercke 2018; Budlender and Sadeck 2007). Through the Ghent system in Belgium, Denmark, Finland, Iceland, and Sweden, trade unions administer state-subsidized, voluntary unemployment insurance, while in other countries (including France, Italy, and South Africa), sectoral agreements have established pooled funds that complement statutory unemployment insurance (ILO 2022: 87).

As collective voice organizations, unions reduce turnover by providing workers an alternative to quitting, thus creating conditions for long-term relationships and enforcement of contracts, which contribute to labor-management focus on improving productivity that can benefit both parties (Tzannatos and Aidt 2006). Studies of the relationship between collective bargaining and productivity have found it to vary, particularly by labor relations institutions and market competitiveness. "Collective bargaining can provide a vehicle to ensure that workers are able to negotiate a fair share of productivity gains, which in turn enhances their commitment to the productive sustainability of an enterprise," as the ILO summarizes (2022: 28). Meta-analysis of hundreds of studies across countries and forty years found a neutral effect of collective bargaining on productivity that varies by country and industry (Doucouliagos et al. 2017: 70). The study found the effects of unions on productivity to be positive in education, construction, and nursing and negligible elsewhere (Doucouliagos et al. 2017). During industrialization, unionism has been found to contribute to higher productivity, enabling firms to pay efficiency rather than market-clearing wages (Standing 1992), a finding corroborated by multi-country studies (Doucouliagos et al. 2017).

In industry-level or sectoral bargaining structures with coordination between sector and workplace levels, collective bargaining has been found to increase productivity (Visser 1998; Bryson and Wilkinson 2001; Iverson and Soskice 2001; Amable 2003; Turnbull 2003; Lamarche 2013; Andreasson 2014; Godfrey et al. 2017; Garnero et al. 2018; Laroche 2020; Brandl and Braakman 2021; Devicienti and Fanfani 2021). Additionally, regulations increasing labormanagement cooperation, such as combining co-determination with sectoral bargaining, support productivity through collective bargaining (Tzannatos and Aidt 2006; Kochan and Dyer 2021). Higher union density has been found to contribute to higher firm productivity and wages, with the effects realized through changes in organizational management, especially collective bargaining (Barth, Bryson, and Dale-Olsen 2020). There is also some evidence that union representation needs collective bargaining agreements to raise productivity (Svarstad and Kostol 2022). Furthermore, collective bargaining is more likely to increase productivity in competitive markets (Reynolds 1986; Metcalf 2002; Tzannatos and Aidt 2006).

Related to productivity, collective bargaining can also support the implementation of new technologies and worker training. Through their facilitation of training, unions may contribute

to productivity by increasing workers' skills and reducing worker turnover. Collective bargaining agreements have supported the implementation of new technologies by requiring consultations, implementation committees, exchanges of employment for functional and geographic mobility, training, and agreements on disconnecting (ILO 2022: 89, 92). The ILO (2022: 94) additionally found that 65% of 512 collective agreements in 21 countries contribute to training by establishing joint committees to plan, establishing respective responsibilities, stipulating volume of training, funding, and linking training and new technologies. Like productivity gains, contributions of unionization to technological implementation and training depend on the quality of management-union relations (Walton and McKersie 1965; Freeman and Medoff 1984; Katz and Sabel 1985; Eaton and Voos 1992; Kochan and Osterman 1994). In collective agreements, unions and management create frameworks for high-quality relations by establishing union access to workers, information sharing, facilities for union meetings, paid time for union activity, and arrangements for union dues payment—provisions found in 78% of agreements in the ILO's (2022: 103-104) most recent international review.

International economic activity and worker voice

Internationalization of economic activity has presented a challenge to worker voice. Scholars have observed that workers would need to exercise voice at the level of employers, increasingly meaning internationally, since the industrialization era (Commons 1909; Moody 1997; Quan 2004; Waterman 2008). Challenges include the inherent greater mobility of capital relative to labor (Arrighi 1994; Harvey 2003; Silver 2003), policies protecting international investors and restricting immigrant workers' rights (Panitch and Gindin 2013; Walia and Kelley 2021), weak workers' rights enforcement systems at the international level (Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016), vast differences between workers' socio-economic and political positions (Dubois 1935; Chakrabarty 1989), and the ability to squeeze workers that derives from concentrated market power and the organization of global supply chains (Bellamy Foster 2007; Anner 2017).

Workers have pursued multiple mechanisms to exercise voice internationally. International trade union federations and international trade secretariats (ITCs) emerged prior to World War I, declined thereafter, and re-organized throughout the acceleration of globalization as Global Union Federations (GUFs) (Croucher and Cotton 2009). As multinational corporations (MNCs) increased their power and reach starting mid-20th century, global union federations (ITCs/GUFs) attempted cross-national strike coordination, formed World Company Councils and works councils in Europe for consultations, and negotiated international and global framework agreements (IFAs/GFAs) (Müller, Platzer, and Rüb 2008; Gumbrell-McCormick and Hyman 2019). While implementing GFAs/IFAs proved difficult (Garver et al. 2007; Nifourou 2012, 2014), they contributed to conditions for worker voice within MNCs' spheres of influence (Gumbrell-McCormick and Hyman 2019; Brookes 2019). Since the 2010s, workers and worker advocates campaigned and bargained to establish enforceable brand agreements (EBAs) to increase workers' influence over terms and conditions of work partially set by MNCs (Blasi and Bair 2019).⁵

⁵ For more on EBAs, see this literature review's section below on case studies and this project's case study on EBAs.

Increasingly in recent decades, transnational labor campaigns aim to strengthen workers' voice at one level, often at the workplace or industry level, by using workers' allies' leverage at another, often at the international level by engaging MNCs, governments, or international organizations (Keck and Sikkink 1998; Brookes and Kinzel 2019). These campaigns may be assessed against whether they result in "material or capacity-enhancing gains that are not offset by significant losses for the workers" (Brookes and Kinzel 2019: 5). While international strategies have helped, advancing worker voice has required substantial worker activism at the level where workers seek material improvements (Garver et al. 2007; Brookes and Kinzel 2019; Sarkar and Kuruvilla 2020).

Individual voice in human resource management practices

The human resource management (HRM) approach to voice aims to increase company competitiveness through worker contributions. It is based on a unitary frame of reference, meaning HRM assumes common interest between management and workers, in contrast to the pluralist frame, which assumes mixed, divergent and overlapping, interests (Fox 1974; Bray, Budd, and MacNeil 2020). HRM is derived from scientific management time-motion studies promoted by Frederick Taylor, welfare capitalism popularized by the Ford Motor Co., and human relations techniques identified by Elton Mayo's Hawthorne Studies. The HRM logic is that "productivity and quality of work are enhanced when workers have control over and responsibility for work processes" (Morrell and Wilkinson 2002). Thus, HRM research focuses on how management can "regulate employees," including "employee attitudes and behaviors," for "performance management" (Farndale, McDonnell, Scholarios, and Wilkinson 2020:4).

'Voice' mechanisms within HRM entail management-led initiatives to learn from and maintain individually separated employees, while aiming to increase employee satisfaction through the perception of participation. As John Budd, Paul Gollan, and Adrian Wilkinson (2010:305) conclude, "The human resource management literature espouses the importance of participation and voice, although often in very specific ways in terms of getting employees to contribute more effectively to the business using their skills and knowledge." HRM scholarship thus distinguishes between collective and individual forms of communication between management and workers, what called HRM scholars call "indirect" [collective] versus "direct" [individual] (Boxall and Purcell 2011; Mowbray, Wilkinson and Tse 2015). Practices include 'open door' policies, complaint procedures, attitude surveys, staff and team meetings, 'quality circles' and continuous improvement teams, suggestion invitations, management-worker joint consultative committees (Mowbray et al. 2015).

HRM gained momentum as union density declined and the connection between worker engagement and productivity gained attention (Boxall and Macky 2009; Mowbray et al. 2015). A pattern of introducing "empowerment and lean-based teamworking" with restructuring involving layoffs and work intensification has been described as "programmed insecurity" (Sennett 2006:187). Business management scholars Kevin Morrell and Adrian Wilkinson (2002:121) similarly concluded that within HRM, "empowerment framed in smoke, aggrandized

by mirrors...instead proves to be a more insidious mechanism for control." The manifestation as "non-union employee representation" mechanisms has been found to be self-defeating if motivated by union avoidance (Donaghey, Cullinane, Dundon, and Dobbins 2012). In contrast to union grievance systems supporting worker retention, non-union dispute resolution procedures were found to not reduce quit rates (Batt, Colvin, and Keefe 2002). Gomez et al. (2019) found a positive relationship between worker-manager committees and worker satisfaction is mediated by union representation. And Charlwood and Pollert (2014) provided evidence indicating that management policies facilitating worker communication increase communication but have low capacity to address rights-based complaints.

Adjacent to the field of HRM is the field of organizational behavior (OB). The OB approach sees voice as, "any type of mechanism, structure or practice, which provides an employee with an opportunity to express an opinion or participate in decision-making within their organization" (Lavelle et al. 2010: 396). The emphasis is thus on individual expression over collective control. The OB conception of worker-initiated voice focuses on individual dissent, such as whistle-blowing (Van Dyne and LePine 1998). As scholars have observed, managerial practices based on OB's emphasis on expression typically involve a representative of management seeking the response(s) of an individual worker(s) through personal, informal interactions such as one-on-one meetings, open-door policies, unplanned conversations, and regular communication via email or other platforms (Mowbray et al. 2015). In one test of the OB approach, Achyuta Adhvaryu, Teresa Molina, and Anant Nyshadham (2019) found worker "expression" is inherently valuable, noting that workers who were provided a survey to express concerns were less likely to quit than non-surveyed coworkers. However, it is unclear whether such surveys contributed to any substantive changes at work. Thus, as we will see next, many questions remain regarding the validity of such individual, employer-controlled voice mechanisms.

Contemporary debates and findings on worker voice

Challenges to worker voice in contemporary employment

Effective collective worker voice mechanisms face interrelated economic, political, and social challenges in the contemporary international system, some of which are new and others are iterations of longstanding challenges. The international organization of production, distribution, and consumption of products and services (theorized as global commodity chains, global production networks, and global value chains (Bair 2005) and popularly known as global supply chains (GSCs)) limits exercise of voice by workers laboring under conditions set by internationally divided unit labor costs, market-dominating lead firms, international protections for mobile capital, and an absence of international protections of workers' rights (Anner 2017; Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016; Quan 1998; Suwandi 2019). Concentration involves monopolistic control in product markets and monopsonistic control vis-à-vis workers and suppliers (Ashenfelter, Card, Farber, and Ransom 2021; Fischer-Daly 2023). Under conditions of legally enforced protections of capital and unenforced norms on labor rights at the international level (Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016), governments prioritizing exports feel pressure to suppress and/or derogate duties to protect workers' rights in order to attract investment (Howell, 2021; Panitch and Gindin 2012; Quin 2023). This dynamic includes highincome, advanced industrial countries (Silvia 2020). This situation reflects a history of limited participation of working people and extensive company participation in international economic rulemaking processes combined with strong influence in these processes of countries where the largest companies are based (Mander and Goldsmith 1996; Khor 2001; Stiglitz 2003; Toussaint 2005). This organization of economic activity pits more workers into direct competition for employment, while multinational corporations select locations where institutions supporting worker voice are weakest (Anner 2015; Kuruvilla 2021).

State innovations in labor control prominently restrict workers' voice. State-led dispossessions continue as part-and-parcel of the organization of GSCs, reducing workers' bargaining power by contributing to high levels of un- and under-employment (Harvey 2003; Bair and Werner 2011; Fischer-Daly 2023). State control over workers' exercise of freedom of association and collective bargaining rights—for example, by prohibiting trade unions and restricting workers' choice of union representatives—has impeded worker voice in various countries, including in Belarus, China, Mexico, Myanmar, and Vietnam (Anner 2015; Anner and Liu 2016; Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016; Friedman 2013; ILO 2022c; ILO 2023c; Middlebrook 1995). The ILO supervisory system highlights widespread legal thresholds for workers' to collectively bargain and legal support for non-union entities to assume representational duties as impediments to worker voice (ILO 2022: 51-54).

State suppression of workers' right to strike and exclusions of workers from legal protections of freedom of association and collective bargaining rights nationally and through designated special areas undercut effective worker voice (Compa 2000; Vogt et al. 2020; Quinn 2023). Many countries exclude entire sectors, especially agricultural work (FAO 2016, 2018; IUF and

GLJ-ILRF 2021). Under-enforcement of labor laws is widespread (Distelhorst, Locke, Pal, and Samel 2015; Howell 2021; Jaehrling and Méhaut 2013). It is often the result of a deliberate attempt by states to achieve *de facto* labor market flexibility in regions such as Latin America (Córdova 1996). The trend is exacerbated by corporate lobbying against employment regulation, recently prominent among firms using digitally-mediated employment, such as ridehailing and food delivery companies (Borkholder, et al., 2018; Collier, Dubal, and Carter 2018). Immigration policies that deny rights to migrant workers without state authorization and that bond workers with such authorization to employers and recruiters directly affects 169 million migrant workers (ILO 2021b) and undermines all workers' exercise of rights and suppresses their compensation (Gordon 2007, 2011; Montes de Oca 2021; Walia 2021).

Employer use of violence followed by lack of legal accountability has sharply limited unionization, including in Central America, Colombia, and Bangladesh (Anner 2015; Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016; GLJ-ILRF 2022). Furthermore, state permission of employers' use of intimidation, including threats to workers' jobs (Bronfenbrenner 2009), silences workers and facilitates employers to strategically choose union avoidance, a pattern observed in the United States (Kochan, Katz, and McKersie 1994) and South Africa (Mapadimeng 1998). In this context, union density and collective bargaining coverage declined (Visser 2019), decreasing worker voice, as indicated by a decline in strikes, which, in turn, adversely impacted wages (Rosenfeld 2006a). In sum, what this literature indicates is that, for collective voice to be effective, workers must be protected from dismissal, deportation, and physical harm.

Employer avoidance of collective bargaining also impedes worker voice. A study of unions in the apparel sector in El Salvador and Honduras found a pattern of employers facilitating establishment of a management-friendly union at their firms to block unions more assertive of workers' interests (Anner 2009). In Costa Rica, employers set up "solidarity associations" to counter workers' demands for union collective bargaining (Frundt 2002; Riisgaard 2005). In the United States, studies have highlighted widespread employer campaigns to resist unionization—including hiring union-avoidance consultants, requiring workers to hear anti-union messages, threatening workers' jobs, promising or giving benefits in exchange for not supporting the union, surveilling and firing workers—as determinants of union density decline and difficulty of new unions reaching first collective bargaining agreements (Bronfenbrenner, 2022; Block and Sachs 2020; Kochan et al. 2022). Employers have also sought to use laws against organized coercion, such as the Rackateer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), to resist union collective bargaining (Brudney 2010).

Financialization, increased allocation of capital to finance relative to production of goods and services, has accelerated in recent decades, exacerbating challenges for worker voice. The pattern shifts greater risk onto workers and insulates capital from democratic control (Arrighi 1994; Bellamy Foster 2007; IUF n.d.; Pons-Vignon 2012). Exemplary of the dynamic, pressure by

⁶ Studies have found that employers fire workers for union support in 19.9% of union elections and threaten plant closure in 45% of elections, and that only 36% of union elections result in a first contract within one year, 66% in 3 years (Bronfenbrenner 2022; Ferguson 2008; McNicholas, Poydock, Wolfe, Zippperer, Lafer, and Loustaunau 2019)

creditors on apparel brands contributed to order cancellations and non-payment during the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic (Anner 2022; Fischer-Daly, Judd, and Kuruvilla 2022:22). An iteration of financialization, expanding private equity operates with a fundamental moral hazard, in which private-equity firms are incentivized to burden companies purchased with debt that undermines their solvency, often resulting in disregard for collectively negotiated contracts (Appelbaum and Batt 2014; PESP n.d.).

Employment fissuring (Weil 2014) involves the organization of direct and indirect employment relationships within a firm network producing a product or service, fundamentally creating legal barriers to workers' exercising voice toward companies benefiting from their labor (Anner, Fischer-Daly, and Maffie 2021). The ILO supervisory bodies emphasize, "the Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87), and the Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98), cover all employers and workers without establishing distinctions based on their contractual status" (ILO 2022: 51, emphasis ours). Nevertheless, fissuring is widespread, resulting from outsourcing, subcontracting, and misclassification of workers to deny legal rights (Weil 2014), mediation of employment with digital platforms and algorithms (Heeks 2017; Johnston and Land-Kazlauskas 2018; Vallas and Schor 2020; ILO 2021a), hiring by unregistered employers (Agarwala 2014), and denial of citizenship by all states concerned, such as the situation of many workers of Haitian descent in the Dominican Republic (Eaton, Schurman, and Chen 2017).

As a multi-country study concluded, informal work is labor that "creates legal goods or services, but does not offer the standard terms, conditions, and benefits specified for the jobs under law—either because the law does not cover these particular jobs or because the law is not effectively enforced," typically supported by social, especially racialized and gendered, hierarchies (Mosoetsa, Stillerman, and Tilly 2016). It is a persistent feature of the Global South and is increasingly a feature of the Global North (*Ibid*). In fact, few workers have experienced "formal" or "standard employment," which provided minimum wages, job security, work contracts, and in many cases healthcare and old-age benefits (Agarwala 2014). It contributes to precarious work, in which workers lack job security, compensation assurance, and access to social protection systems (ILO 2021a).

Economic and political dynamics have always interacted with social hierarchies, which include those based on racialized, gendered, and national categories and have received less attention in theory and practice. Systemic racism has persistently manifested through state, employer, and union practices (DuBois 1934; Fletcher and Gapasin 2008; Roediger, Porter Benson, Gapasin, Dillahunt, and Quan 2000), yet academic attention has been lacking in the field of employment relations (Lee and Tapia 2021; Lee, Davis-Faulkner, Williams, and Tapia 2022). The influence and lack of attention to systemic racism translates into disproportionate exploitation of workers of racialized groups and impediments to worker voice (Mishel and Bivens 2021). In many cases interacting with racial hierarchies (Crenshaw 1991), gender-based discrimination is indicated by lack of access to higher-paid positions, less secure employment, and lower wages for the same work for women workers compared to men workers (Dolan 2004; England 2010; Gaddis and Pieters 2017; Greenberg 2013; Rao 2011; Robertson, Lopez-Acevedo, and Savchenko 2020).

Child labor and forced labor both reinforce challenges to worker voice. The ILO (n.d., 2020b, 2012) estimates that 1 in 10 children worldwide are in child labor, which it defines as "work that is mentally, physically, socially or morally dangerous and harmful to children, and/or interferes with their schooling," and estimates that more than 27 million people are in forced labor, meaning they are engaged in work that is "performed involuntarily and under the menace of any penalty." The ILO (2012) has further identified indicators of forced labor: abuse of vulnerability, deception, restriction of movement, isolation, physical and sexual violence, intimidation and threats, retention of identity documents, withholding of wages, debt bondage, abusive working and living conditions, and excessive overtime. Use of immigration status, deceptive and coercive recruitment practices, and lack of access to information contribute to forced and child labor practices (Phillips & Sakamoto, 2012; Potter & Hamilton, 2014; Stringer et al., 2016; Yea 2017).

Use of corporate social responsibility (CSR) to effectively avoid regulatory oversight presents an additional contemporary challenge to worker voice. CSR responds to the tension between the doctrine that management's task is to maximize shareholder returns and civil society demands for balancing profitability with impacts on people and the environment (Freeman 1984; Porter and Kramer 2011; Crane et al. 2014). In recent decades, most companies adopted a CSR model in which the company creates a code of conduct that references ILO standards and hires internal auditors or a firm to audit suppliers' compliance with the code (Locke 2013), in response to critiques of labor rights abuses and concerns of government regulation (Bartley 2005). Studies have documented CSR's inability to reduce violations of workers' rights for decades (Anner 2012; Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016; Barrientos, Gereffi, and Rossi 2011; Elliot and Freeman 2003; Esbenshade 2004; Finnegan 2013; Kuruvilla 2021; Locke 2013; O'Rourke 1997). The voluntariness of CSR impedes effectiveness, including by enabling companies' "double-breasting," applying some standards where the costs are low to gain legitimacy from claims of social responsibility, while not applying standards throughout operations and supply chains (Dundon et al. 2015).

CSR does not effectively monitor and enforce standards on freedom of association and collective bargaining rights (Anner 2012; Kuruvilla 2021), sidelines workers by assigning judgement over respect or violation of their rights to others and keeping information confidential from workers, and often does not address worker wage demands (LeBaron 2021b; Li and Kuruvilla 2021). It also ignores buyers' purchasing practices (Distelhorst and Locke 2018) and creditor and investor pressures on companies (Fischer-Daly et al. 2022). Analysis of CSR's persistence suggests that the model aligns employer priorities with buyer priorities which are directed by market competition and pressure by creditors and investors to sustain profit growth (Egels-Zandén and Merk 2014; Kuruvilla, Liu, Li, and Chen 2020; Kuruvilla 2021; Kuruvilla and Li 2022). However, CSR initiatives often seek to provide the perception of worker participation through "participation committees." These committees are set up and controlled by management, and thus provide an extremely weak substitution for trade unions and collective

bargaining (Kyritsis, LeBaron, and Anner 2019).⁷ Indeed, because workers are not able to form independent collective organizations and are not provided protection from dismissal, workers are often even afraid to speak up during committee meetings (Anner 2017).

Private, voluntary certification of labor standards has developed as a CSR initiative with a similar track record of not contributing to worker voice. The argument for certifications is fourfold. First, advocates observe that multinational corporations (MNCs) operate in jurisdictions where governments are not enforcing labor laws (Scherer et al. 2006; Baumann-Pauly et al. 2017). Second, inadequate state regulation can be a problem for MNCs (Braithwaite and Drahos 2000; Baumann-Pauly et al. 2017). Third, single companies find it difficult to compete and comply with labor standards (van Tulder 2012). Fourth, different constituencies in multistakeholder initiatives (MSIs), alignment of certification requirements with ILO standards, and use of audit techniques present a compelling model (Nolan and van Heerden 2013; Baumann-Pauly et al. 2017). However, economic pressures, lack of legal support for working collective action, uneven use by companies, and conflicts of interests reduce the potential of certifications (Fransen 2013; Lindgren 2016). The lack of increased worker voice outcomes stems from the lack of worker participation in certification systems' governance and implementation (Potts et al. 2014; Bennett 2017). Leading certifications interview workers at their workplaces and prevent workers access to audit findings with non-disclosure clauses in the contracts between audit firms, accreditors, and standard-setting organizations, and workers report that they will not report violations of standards to auditors out of fear of retaliation (Merk 2007; Esbenshade 2004; Fransen 2013; Brown & Getz 2008; Banana Link 2016). A review of 649 articles on certifications found that most focus on effects on producers, many of which are employers, and on consumers, especially their willingness to pay more and focus on methodological limitations, including the complication of workplaces producing for certified and non-certified markets and an overemphasis on single case studies (Rathgens, Gröschner, and Wehrden 2020). Studies have found that certifications fail to raise labor standards because they exclude workers most vulnerable to abuse, employers using them cannot afford the financial costs of meeting the standards, and insufficient and fraudulent verification (LeBaron 2021a). Under certain conditions, certifications have raised compensation through premiums with limited impact due to low sales volumes of certified products (Makita 2012; Besky 2013), and strengthened women's individual rights, understood as "a pre-condition for fostering their collective rights" (Raynolds 2021: 673). However, multiple studies conclude that certifications "could impede collective organizing and improvements in state labour regulation" (Raynolds and Rosty 2021: 118) and undermines labor solidarity in some contexts (Besky 2015; Brown 2013).

Worker innovations to exercise voice

In challenging environments, workers have created new approaches to exercise voice. Social movement unionism (a union model emphasizing democratic praxis, alliances between labor

⁷ See also: https://www.business-humanrights.org/es/blog/new-buzzword-same-problem-how-worker-voice-initiatives-are-perpetuating-the-shortcomings-of-traditional-social-auditing/

unions and civil-society organizations, political engagement, and international solidarity) advanced worker voice in workplaces, politics, and society in Brazil, the Philippines, South Africa, and South Korea (Moody 1997). Strikes began rising in the late 2010s, and, while rates are below levels in mid-20th century, workers have increasingly worked with the broader public in collective actions (Cornell n.d.; Kochan et al. 2022). Unions have advanced multi-level bargaining with multinational corporations and their suppliers (Siegmann, Merk, and Knorringa 2017; Brookes 2019; Brookes and Kinzel 2019). For a decade, worker movements have strengthened such agreements' enforcement mechanisms that include worker voice at the highest levels of governance and entail commitments to increase value distribution (Blasi and Bair 2019; Donaghey and Reinecke 2018; Pike 2020).

Unions have revitalized at multiple levels. Community-networked worker organizing has advanced protections of worker rights and voice in cities (Frank and Wong 2004) and internationally (Quan 2000), in cases leading to the creation of tripartite councils to set minimum standards in industries that present robust difficulties to union collective bargaining (Jacobs 2022). Unions have negotiated national neutrality or recognition agreements, in which company signatories commit to recognize a union as the bargaining representative of workers it employs and not take actions to avoid collective bargaining with the union (Kochan et a. 2022), albeit with less success internationally (Müller et al. 2008). Rank-and-file efforts have increased workers' bargaining power and voice by democratizing existing unions (Parker 1998; Rachleff 2001; Sharpe 2004; Levi et al. 2009; Ferreras et al. 2022; Sneiderman and Lerner 2023) and creating new unions (Hermanson 2022; Fischer-Daly 2023). For example, workers formed the union *Familias Unidas por la Justicia* (FUJ) [Families United for Justice] and negotiated an otherwise rare collective bargaining agreement in U.S. agriculture, in the 2010s (Bacon 2016; Fischer-Daly 2023), and workers established the Amazon Labor Union, the first union at an Amazon distribution center, in 2022 (Press 2022).

Women of color have led union revitalization through efforts to democratize their workplaces and unions (Healy and Kirton 2013; Windham 2017). Minority unions, which represent less than a majority of workers at a given workplace or company, are supporting worker voice despite legal restrictions (Rae 2021). Such unions, the ILO emphasizes, are a component of workers' rights to voice (ILO 2022: 53). Workers have established union collective bargaining in sectors where work has not been recognized or valued, including domestic workers (Goldsmith 2016). Many self-employed workers' strategies have increased total women union density (Goldsmith 2017; ILO 2022). In multiple countries, revitalized and new unions have advanced laws enhancing worker rights (Bensusán 2020; ILO 2022b, 2023).

Worker centers have responded to impediments to union collective bargaining by providing essential services, including legal representation. They organize dispersed and marginalized workers and advocate for legal worker protections and their enforcement, although scholars of worker centers have also flagged a tension between the centers' reliance on philanthropic funding and their sustainability and support for workers' collective action (Fine 2005; Fine, Narro, and Barnes 2018; Kochan et al. 2022: 6). Worker center-union collaborations (Fine 2007, 2011; Ford 2019) and organizations with characteristics of both—most prominently the Self-

Employed Women's Association (SEWA)—have successfully supported worker voice (Tilly, Agarwala, Mosoetsa, Ngai, Salas, and Sheikh 2013). New organizing has also driven more inclusive labor movements, including for informal sector workers (Agarwala 2014).

Worker organizations adjacent to unions have emerged in various forms. Many address intersectional forms of domination and ecosystem degradation, such as the Landless People's Movement (*Movimento Dos Trabalhadores Rurais Sem Ter*ra, MST), Black Lives Matter, Trade Unions for Energy Democracy, Sunrise Movement, WILL Empower, and as migrant workers at workplaces, new and heritage communities (Rivera Salgado 2015). Training workers to know their rights and raise consciousness of their contexts has enabled worker collectives across industries and countries (Sciacchitano 2000; Raynolds 2021; IDWF 2022; WILL Empower n.d.).

"Worker-led research" is another strategy contributing to worker voice and may be understood as social inquiry in which workers participate in the research design, data gathering, and analysis processes (Anner 2022). Methods of inquiry into social questions prioritizing the participation of workers have a long history spanning diverse contexts (Delp, Outman-Krame, Schurman, Wong 2002). Worker-researcher collaborations have been found to increase attention to social needs, better explain complex dynamics, and contribute more widely meaningful outcomes (Lang et al. 2012; Simon and Schiemer 2015). While participatory methodologies are often scarcely used (Rathgens, Gröschner, and Wehrden 2020), worker-led research is viewed as "transformational" and a "crucial intervention point for addressing the complexities and uncertain futures" (Rathgens et al.2020: 9; Wiek and Lang 2016; Schoon and Cox 2018).

A framework for understanding worker voice in the contemporary global economy

The literature on worker voice points to characteristics of effective mechanisms, those that support worker voice. An ideal type of worker voice mechanism is collective, democratic, inclusive, protected, empowered, and enabled.⁸

Effective worker voice is collective action, because individuals lack capacity to change terms and conditions of employment, especially those related to distribution of value, as observed by the Webbs (1896, 1897, 1901) and found in contemporary HRM studies (Batt et al. 2002; Morell and Wilkinson 2002; Charlwood and Pollert 2014). Collective refers to the capacity of workers to improve their livelihoods when acting together, a capacity that does not exist for most individual workers (Webb and Webb 1897; Webb 1901; Katz 1993). Collective action means that workers' demands for change, the risks they assume in taking action, and the changes

⁸ For an initial iteration of this framework, see Anner (2017), "Wildcat strikes and Better Work bipartite committees in Vietnam: Toward an elect, represent, protect and empower framework." Discussion Paper 24. Geneva, International Labour Organization and International Finance Corporation. https://betterwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/DP-24-Anner-_Strikes-Vietnam_proofread-FINAL-31.05.2017.pdf

achieved through them affect all represented workers, in contrast to individual voice mechanisms. When individual workers participate in committees formed for management to consult them, they are unable to know, let alone represent, the interests of the workers at the facility as a group (Anner 2017).

Effective worker voice is democratic, because a collective must coordinate individuals to represent group interests (Webb and Webb 1896; Ross 1948; Strauss 1991), which requires independence from employers and the states (Bensusán and Middlebrook 2013). Many scholars have emphasized that democratic practice supports improving terms and conditions of employment (Strauss 1991; Parker 1998; Sciacchitano 2000; Rachleff 2001; Gumbrell McCormick and Hyman 2019; Pitkin 2022; Fischer-Daly 2023). An example of the importance of democracy is evinced by employer-protection unions and deterioration in working conditions in Mexico from the 1980s through the 2010s (Bensusán and Middlebrook 2013). Additionally, democratic distinguishes effective worker voice from management-led and joint manager-worker committees in which management maintains unilateral control (Anner 2017).

Inclusive means that no worker is excluded from the exercise of worker voice. Effective worker voice is inclusive because workers need to practice the values foundational to the world they seek to build (Dillahunt in Roediger et al. 1996; Pitkin 2022). The importance of inclusiveness is highlighted by studies documenting the co-construction of modern employment and racialized hierarchy (DuBois 1935; Robinson 2000), intersectional exclusion of African American women from justice (Crenshaw 1991), racial exclusion within unions (Roediger et al. 2001; Fletcher and Gapasin 2008), and blind spots in industrial relations scholarship to the interactions of class, gender, and race (Lee and Tapia 2021). Furthermore, studies of dualization of labor markets into those with and those without union representation emphasize the risks of exercising worker voice for an exclusive group of workers (Rueda 2005; 2014).

Protected means that workers exercising voice do not face physical violence, loss of employment, deportation, and other forms of retaliation. Such retaliation is common throughout the contemporary world of work (Anner 2015; Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016; Fischer-Daly 2023). This makes protection essential to effective worker voice. From several scholars' perspective, governments' *de jure* and *de facto* protection of private property rights creates a duty to protect workers' rights to fair treatment. In policy and practice, governments protect capital's right to profit (Harvey 2003; Panitch and Gindin 2013; Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016). Without protections of collective workers voice, companies have outsize influence over governments, and therefore on society (Howell 2021). Hence, the ILO and labor law scholars conclude that governments have a duty to protect worker voice (Compa 2000).

Empowered means that workers have and are able to use sources of leverage. These include strikes, boycotts, and other means of disrupting capital accumulation processes—what some

⁹ Employer-protection unions refer to unions that sign collective employment contracts with employers in order to prevent workers from collectively negotiating a contract with the employer, a practice that has characterized many workplaces in Mexico since the 1980s (see Bensusán 2006).

scholars refer to as "structural power" (Wright 2000; Silver 2003; Piven 2008)—and are a primary determinant of bargaining power (Katz, Kochan, and Colvin 2017). Without leverage, worker voice mechanisms limited to consultation are insufficient for change (Serrano 2016; Anner 2017; Gomez et al. 2019).

Enabled refers to workers having the time, space, training, and access to information needed to improve the terms and conditions of work. Effective worker voice is enabled, because the task of representing workers' interests requires the tools for the job, including information, time, and physical facilities (Addison et al. 2001).

Relevant literature on case studies that inform the framework of worker voice

Several cases of efforts to exercise worker voice offer insights into the definition of the concept and how to evaluate effective mechanisms of worker voice. None are best cases in the sense of replicable practices, because the exercise of worker voice is contingent on continuously varying economic, political, and social conditions across place and time. To evaluate them, an analytical framework involves studying the environment in which the mechanism is implemented, how the mechanism functions, and the outcomes of its use.

Enforceable brand agreements (EBAs)

Enforceable brand agreements (EBAs) are co-governed, negotiated agreements between labor and employers that are legally binding on the parties. They respond to interrelated challenges to worker voice in the contemporary international political economy. Firm network organization separates supplier and buyer firms in supply chains, obscuring buyer firms from workers and legal liability for employment practices influenced by their purchasing practices (Weil 2014; Anner 2017). National states limit labor law enforcement to direct employers, creating impunity for lead firms despite consensus that multinational corporations (MNCs) have responsibilities to prevent workers' rights abuses and mitigate impacts when their decisions contribute to them, as expressed in the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy, and United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (Appelbaum and Lichtenstein 2016). National governments under-enforce international labor standards to compete for investment (Panitch and Gindin 2013; Howell 2021). Under these conditions, workers at suppliers to MNCs face retaliation and violence when exercising voice, and governments with jurisdiction over the suppliers and MNCs do not hold the suppliers and MNCs to account for violations of workers' rights to freedom of association and collective bargaining (Anner 2015; Lichtenstein et al. 2016).

EBAs are a form of multiparty bargaining responses to the legal vacuum created by global supply chains. Under EBAs, positive and negative actions (increasing or decreasing market access) aim to shift employers' interests, an independent third-party determines compliance under oversight by agreement signatories, lead firms fund improvements, and direct

employment or joint liability replaces outsourcing (Blasi and Blair 2019). According to Blasi and Bair, among the four characteristics of effective multiparty bargaining agreements are "cogovernance structures in which labour and industry jointly oversee independent verification programs and robust dispute resolution systems to resolve disagreements, such as final and binding arbitration enforceable in courts of law" (Ibid: 6). That is, worker voice expresses itself through the administration of such agreement together with brand representatives. Worker voice is empowered through binding arbitration. Also fundamental to EBAs are grievance mechanisms through which workers are protected and empowered to seek remedy for worker rights violations. EBAs often include robust training programs that give workers the tools they need to effectively participate, thus enabling effective worker voice.

EBAs contrast with voluntary corporate social responsibility programs (CSR) (Anner, Bair, and Blasi 2013; Donaghey and Reinecke 2018). Under the EBA model, workers organizations negotiate and co-govern binding, enforceable agreements regulating the policies and practices of suppliers and buyers, including procedures for monitoring, remediation of violations of the agreement, and arbitration to resolve disputes (Vanpeperstraete 2021). Since 2013, EBAs have been effectively implemented in Bangladesh-the Accord on Fire and Building Safety in Bangladesh (Bangladesh Accord 2018), Honduras-CGT unions and Fruit of the Loom (Anner 2022), Lesotho—Agreements to Combat Gender-based Violence in Lesotho's Garment Industry (Pike 2020; WRC n.d.), Pakistan—International Accord for Health and Safety in the Textile and Garment Industry (International Accord 2023), and India—Dindigul Agreement to Eliminate Gender-Based Violence and Harassment (Asia Floor Wage Alliance, GLJ-ILRF, TTCU 2022). The agreements demonstrate worker voice as a meta-mechanism enabling improvements in health and safety, job security, and freedom from intersectional discrimination and gender-based violence. The variation in environments emerges in the different focus of each EBA. The circumscribed scope of each further illustrates the challenges for establishing worker voice that is empowered, enabled, protected, collective, democratic, and inclusive.

Plurilateral trade and investment treaties and trade union organizing

The Rapid Response Labor Mechanism (RRLM) in the United States Mexico Canada Agreement (USMCA) is the first mechanism in an international trade and investment treaty that applies sanctions to individual facilities and, through them, their parent company, as leverage to remediate violations of freedom of association and collective bargaining rights. The USMCA Dispute Settlement Chapter (31) includes the United States-Mexico Facility-Specific Rapid Response Labor Mechanism (Annex 31-A). The Annex specifies, "The Mechanism shall apply whenever a Party (the "complainant Party") has a good faith basis belief that workers at a *Covered Facility* are being denied the right of free association and collective bargaining [...]" (Chapter 31, Annex 31-A.2, emphasis ours). It continues, "If the respondent Party chooses to conduct its review, it shall report in writing the results of the review and any remediation to the

¹⁰ The Annex only applies to Mexico and the United States. A separate Annex establishes a similar agreement between Mexico and Canada. For the full text of the Dispute Settlement Chapter, see: https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/files/agreements/FTA/USMCA/Text/31%20Dispute%20Settlement.pdf

complainant Party at the end of the 45-day period" (Ibid, Article 31-A.4.4). Importantly, any interested party, including trade unions that are representative of workers at a covered facility, may submit labor chapter and Rapid Response petitions indicating a facility is not in compliance with its labor obligations under the USMCA. Thus, worker voice is a fundamental part of the trade agreement, which has been effectively leveraged in several emblematic cases (as illustrated in the RRLM case study in this project's final report).

Worker voice is empowered through the RRLM because it allows the US government to suspend the trade rights of individual companies operating in Mexico upon finding merit in worker complaints of the company's interference in their freedom of association and collective bargaining rights. This includes denial of preferential tariff rates followed by denied entry of a firm's products or services (Polaski 2022). The RRLM increases access to justice (Vogt 2021), providing leverage for workers attempting to organize and bargain in Mexico (Hermanson 2022).

The RRLM is not without its limitations. While it creates leverage for many workers, others are excluded, and its implementation depends on coordination between multiple levels of multiple states with overlapping and different interests, and in Mexico, implementation of a new mandate of the judiciary to oversee labor relations (Morales Ramírez 2021). The RRLM provides legitimacy to the Mexican government as well as the US as states seeking to defending workers' rights. The RRLM is also restricted to workers in prioritized export sectors, services, mining, and a subset of manufacturing in Mexico. ¹¹ Application of the RRLM is not equal across countries. USMCA indicates: "With respect to the United States, a claim can be brought only with respect to an alleged Denial of Rights owed to workers at a covered facility under an enforced order of the National Labor Relations Board." (USMCA Annex 31-A: footnote 2). Furthermore, the RRLM is supported by national labor law reforms in Mexico and inclusion of labor standards in the USMCA, and all are being implemented without addressing pressures on worker voice of lowcost, export-oriented development models (Ocampo Merlo 2022).

The RRLM is a case of a state-led mechanism that contributes to worker voice created politically and in the context of countervailing forces. Negotiations established the RRLM following worker collective pressure on the US and Mexican governments to regulate the use of employer-protection contracts, which are contracts signed by employers with complicit "official" unions to prevent collective bargaining with democratic worker unions (Bensusán 2020).¹²

Trade unions, worker centers, and political advocacy in agriculture

Worker voice mechanisms differ according to the contexts in which they are designed and implemented; they are also shaped by actor strategies and interests. Demonstrating the

¹¹ "For greater certainty [on priority sectors within manufacturing], manufactured goods include, but are not limited to, aerospace products and components, autos and auto parts, cosmetic products, industrial baked goods, steel and aluminum, glass, pottery, plastic, forgings, and cement" (USMCA, Annex 31-A, Footnote 4).

¹² Use of employer-protection contracts contributed to a 70 percent decline in real wages for workers in Mexico since the 1980s (Bensusán and Middlebrook 2013: 50), thereby suppressing wages throughout North America.

conjunctural difference, in the United States commercial agriculture sector, the United Farm Workers has primarily advocated for statewide laws while also pursuing collective bargaining in California, the Coalition of Immokalee Workers established itself as a worker center and the Fair Food Program as an enforceable agreement with buyers in the Southeast, and Familias Unidas por la Justicia established collective bargaining with an employer in Washington State.

The three workers collectives are all seeking to establish worker voice in a sector underpinned by super-exploitation internationally. One third of workers worldwide work in agriculture, and most of them live with poverty-level incomes and endure dangerous work (FAO 2016, 2018; World Bank 2019). The exclusion of agriculture from national labor laws contributes to persistent super-exploitation in the sector (FAO 2018). As the ILO (2008) reported, "in a number of cases, they [agricultural workers] are explicitly excluded, either fully or partially, from the relevant laws, or, when they are covered under the law, they are excluded from protection in practice." The exclusions persist 100 years after tripartite adoption of ILO Convention 11 "Right of Association (Agriculture) (IUF and GLJ-ILRF 2021), under which member states are advised "to secure to all those engaged in agriculture the same rights of association and combination as to industrial workers, and to repeal any statutory or other provisions restricting such rights in the case of those engaged in agriculture" (ILO C11: Article 1).

In part, the legal exclusion of agricultural workers from effective worker voice mechanisms is the response of states that depend on capital accumulation and food access for legitimacy to the impediments to profitably investing in agriculture (McMichael 2019; Fischer-Daly 2023). Nature is in control, determining production cycles and thus delaying returns on investment in time-saving technologies, capital lies stagnant between planting and harvesting, increasing labor power is limited by risks of destroying crops, weather and pests limit production predictability, production is geographically limited to crop-conducive conditions, and products spoilage complicates delivery to market (Mann and Dickinson 1978). Profitability from food production is further limited by the network organization of firms in the sector, in which monopolistic power of input suppliers and monopsonistic power of buyers squeeze capital out of production and labor (Fischer-Daly 2023). Political support to mitigate these profit impediments reflects the necessity of food; its shortage often both results in and contributes to political contestation (Davis 2002; Hossain 2017). In addition to political support, commercial agriculture, agribusiness, has deployed constructed gender, racial, and nationality differences to differentiate the rights of workers employed.

Agribusiness in the United States is an example. The National Labor Relations Act excludes agriculture, denying workers' voice through collective bargaining rights protection and reflecting the use of racialized and gendered hierarchy in the sector (Perea 2011). Concentration has increased to the level that four companies control more than 40 percent of sales (USDA ERS 2021). Average worker incomes were less than \$25,000, wage rates were less than 60 percent of non-agricultural rates, a third of households lived below the poverty line, most relied on public assistance, most lacked healthcare, one-third reported chronic pesticide-exposure symptoms in the 2010s (Holmes 2013; US Department of Labor 2018). Within US agribusiness, variation within the industry as it has reorganized into retail-led supply chains and

sub-national variation in political and social orientations to workers and people of diverse cultural heritages manifest in the distinct approaches of the UFW, CIW, and FUJ in their responses to worker voice deficits (Fischer-Daly 2021).

"Transnational labor rights corridors" for migrant workers in Central and North America

Workers migrating between Central and North America and their allies have organized "transnational labor rights corridors," networks of worker associations and centers supporting workers' to exercise voice at work and through policymaking, during the first decades of the 21st century. These migrant worker networks respond to legal regimes that reduce workers' ability to exercise voice.

The ILO reports that 169 million people are migrant workers, representing 5% of the global work force, that migrant workers often work without job security and legal protections, and that women migrant workers tend to be employed in the lowest-paying jobs (ILOSTAT n.d.). Studies have long found that employment of migrant labor externalizes labor reproduction costs beyond the employer, in contexts as different as South African and the United States (Burawoy 1976). As Jennifer Gordon (2007) observed, contemporary organization of global supply chains (GSCs) has also involved organization of "human supply chains." Most commonly, firms in wealthier, "Global North" countries have relied on immigrant workers as a source of cheap labor in sectors that are less mobile, such as agriculture, construction, healthcare, and hospitality (Sassen 1991; Massey et al. 2003; Wills et al. 2010; Anderson and Rush 2012). Increasingly, firms located in "Global South" countries and integrated in GSCs are employing migrant workers to gain flexibility that enhances their competitiveness and responsiveness to fluctuating demands of lead firms (Gordon 2022).

Legal immigration regimes create risks of deportation for migrant workers who quit or are fired, thereby reducing migrant workers' rationale for exercising voice (Gordon 2022). Migrant workers include undocumented migrants, who migrate across borders without official permission from the destination government, and visa-holding migrants, who have official permission for varying periods of time and with varied scope, some permitting employment for any employer for extended periods of time, such as the US government's Permanent Resident Card ("green card") and others permitting employment only for the employer to whom the visa is attached for defined period, as in the US H2A and H2B programs. The recruitment and transit processes often result in migrant workers incurring substantial debts to individuals and organizations (Farmworker Justice 2011). At the workplace, the deportation threat and attendant risks of workplace abuses affect both groups, with undocumented migrant workers threatened with deportation and temporary visa-holding migrant workers threatened with the loss of their job and thus legal status and loss of future employment in the destination country (Montes de Oca 2021).

Migrant workers and labor advocates have developed network they refer to as "transnational labor rights corridors" in North American, deliberately since the early 2010s. Among the organizations involved are the National Day Laborer Organizing Network (NDLON) in the United

States, Project for Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights (PRODESC) and Coalition of Migrant, Temporary Workers of Sinaloa in Mexico, and Center for Migrant Integration (CIMITRA) in El Salvador. These organizations coordinate support for migrant workers to understand and exercise their rights in their interactions with government agencies and employers (PRODESC n.d.). Additionally, each organization advocates for government policies that would reduce risks of abuses and contribute to migrant workers' exercising voice. The networks represent transnational worker organizing and offer lessons for understanding how migrant workers can improve the terms and conditions of their participation in international labor markets and individual workplaces.

Worker voice and authoritarian regimes

Authoritarian regimes' fundamental concern with maintenance of unitary control tends to suppress worker voice due to the nexus between the exercise of democracy in the governance of work and in society more broadly. Yet large numbers of workers live under regimes characterized by varying degrees of authoritarianism, from single party-state restriction of unionization to a single, state-dominated union in China and Vietnam to the ongoing struggle by the military regime to bring society into submission in Myanmar. Since the military overthrew the democratically elected government in Myanmar in February 2021, workers have demonstrated the interdependency of industrial and political democracy, offering lessons for how workers improve their livelihoods under authoritarian regimes.

Workers have asserted their voice at multiple levels in the two years following the 2021 coup d'etat in Myanmar. Trade unions deregistered by the military regime formed the Myanmar Labour Alliance (MLA) and the General Strike Coordination Body. The union formations have collective voice in the National Unity Consultative Council (NUCC) along organizations of women, youth, ethnic communities resisting the military forces, and other civil-society organizations. They also have voice in the International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC) and global union federations such as IndustriAll. To assert leverage over the military regime, the unions have used voice mechanisms through several international fora to call for comprehensive economic sanctions against the regime in Myanmar. For example, IndustriALL listened to the position of MLA (which includes several IndustriALL member organizations) and backed the MLA's call for sanctions. The MLA has persuasively argued that effective worker voice within Myanmar is not possible because workers fear for their physical safety if they speak up. Due to the outspoken position of the MLA and its allies, several important brands have left Myanmar. Yet many other multinational corporations continue to conduct business and claim to be conducting "enhanced due diligence" of human rights risks (ETI 2022; FATF 2022).

The case of workers' struggle against the military regime in Myanmar informs understanding of how workers can exercise their voice within international organizations and fora to collectively advance democracy at multiple levels of society, from workplaces to the national government and in internationally organized industries. It also highlights impediments, some of which have parallels in recent history. As part of their struggle against apartheid, trade unions in South

Africa called for a boycott, and multinational corporations rejected the demand and continued business. The MNCs adopted a set of corporate social responsibility principles that they called the "Sullivan Principles," despite requests by their namesake, Reverend Leon Sullivan, to heed the union's call for a boycott (Seidman 1994).

Worker voice in domestic work

Domestic workers represent 4.5% of all workers, and 81% are informally employed, reports the ILO (2023b). Domestic work entails an "array of activities and relationships involved in maintaining people both on a daily basis and intergenerationally" (Glenn 1992), including housecleaning, food preparation, and care for young, sick, and elderly people. As more people have participated in wage work, more domestic work has been mediated by the market (*Ibid*). However, as the ILO data on informal domestic work being the norm suggests, legal protections of domestic workers' exercise of voice is widely absent. Domestic and other informal workers have directed demands to governments and international organizations to gain recognition of their rights as workers and thereby demand improvements to the terms and conditions of their employment (Agarwala 2008). Internationally, domestic workers have achieved recognition by successfully advocating for the establishment of the ILO Convention Concerning Decent Work for Domestic Workers (No. 189) in 2011.

Domestic workers' strategies for exercising voice varies, reflecting distinct histories of feminist social and political movements, a pattern evident in Latin America. As an ideal type, a national union and employers organization negotiate collective agreements covering domestic work nationwide in Uruguay (Banco de Previsión Social 2019). Uruguay's establishment of this sectoral bargaining reflects the history of its feminist movement, which included women who employ domestic workers, and the support of a Broad Front government with a social justice orientation (Goldsmith 2017). In Argentina, the domestic workers' union has worked with national governments, reflecting the corporatist model of the Peronist party, according to an International Domestic Workers Federation (IDWF) representative (authors interview 2023).

According to a survey of Latin America by an IDWF representative, history informs domestic workers unions in the region (authors interview 2023). The Brazilian National Federation of Domestic Workers is one of the oldest unions in the region and applies an intersectional approach, demanding civil and economic rights and reflecting the interconnected histories of racial and gender-based violence in the country. In Chile, indigenous women lead the domestic workers' movement, reflecting ongoing decolonization struggles, and have established high levels of registration of domestic workers in the national social security system. Domestic workers in Peru successfully advocated for the government to ratify ILO C. 189 and are seeking to advance their rights with a new, supportive government. Meanwhile, domestic workers in the Dominican Republic have faced resistance of employers, the government, and national unions to their demands for recognition of their rights as workers.

The diversity of approaches by domestic workers in Latin America reflects the multiple strategies used by informal workers throughout the world. These include collective bargaining

with employers and state actors, market development, and advocacy to access to social protections (Tilly et al. 2013). Furthermore, domestic workers in Latin America provide an example of workers' training to reproduce their collective organization and capacities to exercise voice (IDWF 2022).

Worker voice and ending child labor and forced labor

The ILO estimates that 160 million children are involved in child labor and 27.6 million people are in forced labor (ILO 2020b; ILO, Walk Free, and IOM 2022). The ILO (n.d.) defines child labor as "work that deprives children of their childhood, their potential and their dignity, and that is harmful to physical and mental development." Child labor occurs when children trade their future potential for short-term gains. Child labor is not when children engage in light work or household chores, rather it occurs when children are unable to attend school or develop future skills due to the number of hours and / or type of work they engage in. Forced labor is "work or service which is exacted from any person under the menace of any penalty and for which the said person has not offered himself voluntarily," as stated in the ILO Forced Labour Convention (No. 29).

Combative measures against child labor and forced labor such as enforcement of labor laws, removal of child worker, and punishing direct employers may occur in some cases, but these do not necessarily tackle root causes such as poverty, which instead requires comprehensive social protection measures. The two work in partnership because the lack of enforcement of labor standards coupled with a lack of viable, accessible social protection measures for the vulnerable are central to prevalence of child labor (ILO 2022d). For example, national states can create the "conditions in which unfree labor can flourish," including immigration policies that limit labor mobility, labor policies that do not support union collective bargaining, and permission of private regulation (LeBaron and Phillips 2019). Private regulations, particularly corporate social responsibility commitments against child and forced labor, lack enforcement mechanisms and disregard workers' involvement in creating conditions of work, argue Elena Shih, Jennifer Rosenbaum, and Penelope Kyritsis (2021).

As exemplified by the US Department of Labour \$5million cooperative agreements on worker voice in Brazil and Paraguay (US DoL 2023), and the MyVoice project in Malaysia (SAI 2022), there is interest in harnessing the potential of worker voice to improve terms and conditions of employment and support the eradication of child and forced labor). A review of US Department of Labor Office of Child Labor, Forced Labor, and Human Trafficking projects from 2014-2018 recommended "addressing the limited employment of working people and their communities" and consideration of "infringements of other human rights at work (including non-discrimination, freedom of association, and collective bargaining)" (Impaq 2019: 6). Genevieve LeBaron's (2020) extensive study of sectors with prevalent child and forced labor highlights the multifaced ways in which business strategies contribute to the root causes of these rights violations. Adults who are paid very little cannot earn enough to meet their family's needs. This evidence further buttresses the need to support workers' exercise of voice via collective bargaining rights and other action to address such unfair pricing and coercive labor practices.

Worker voice in digital platform-mediated employment

Estimates of the share of workers in digital platform-mediated employment vary from 1% to 16% of adults in the United States to 3-17% of workers in Europe (Dale and Haag 2022). The work may involve platform design, provision of professional services via systems such as Up Work, micro-tasking in which dispersed clients and workers connect online through systems such as Amazon Mechanical Turk, offline work on-demand via apps such as ride hailing and food delivery, and artistic presentations via social media (Vallas and Schor 2020). Scholars identify many similarities with other employment modalities (De Stefano 2016; ILO 2021), leading one study to conclude that platform-mediated employment is a subset of "nonstandard employment" (Wood et al. 2022). Platform-mediated employment is also characterized by highly dispersed and isolated workers, use of algorithms to control the labor process, and use of clients to control labor (e.g. through ratings systems) (Gandini 2019; Vallas and Schor 2020; ILO 2021; Maffie 2022b). Furthermore, most workers employed via digital platforms are excluded from laws protecting freedom of association and collective bargaining rights (Johnston and Land-Kazlauskas 2018; ILO 2021; Hadwiger 2022). With widely varying regulations at the national and sub-national levels (ILO 2021), conditions have been found to include short-term work, low autonomy, high surveillance, externalization of capital costs to workers, lack of dispute resolution processes, low remuneration, and lack of social protections (Johnston and Land-Kazlauskas 2018; ILO 2021; Maffie 2022a; Dale and Haag 2022).

Workers have engaged in collective action to improve terms and conditions of platform-mediated employment. Strategies by worker collectives have included legal advocacy for regulation that supports exercise of collective bargaining rights, provision of mutual aid including legal representation, and collective bargaining (Johnston and Land-Kazlauskas 2018). Workers have also conducted strikes, including collective log-offs (Hadwiger 2022), and might form alliances with users of digital platforms (Cruz and Gameiro 2022). Thus far, in organizing, these workers have often used social networking sites and individual actions that may be best understood as "everyday practices of resilience, reworking, and resistance" (Anwar and Graham 2020; Maffie 2022c). Workers' strategy may reflect existing support and traditions of activism in their respective communities, as found in a comparative study across countries in Africa, the Americas, Asia, and Europe (Cini 2021).

Worker-driven research

Worker participation in studying phenomena affecting them has a long tradition in diverse contexts. In *Pedagogy of the Oppressed*, Paolo Freire advanced the idea that people engaging in collective analysis of their lives and the power relations involved is fundamental to effective action, thereby advocating a dialectic of theory and practice. Freire's approach has informed workers' movements worldwide, most prominently the Landless Workers' Movement in Brazil. In the United States, the Highlander Research and Education Center encouraged a fusion of labor education and organizing (Delp et al. 2002). In recent decades, participatory research has

formed part of workers' strategies to improve their livelihoods in diverse contexts, from Las Vegas in the United States to Tamil Nadu in India (Delp et al. 2002; The Tricontinental 2022). Participatory approaches have also been developed to evaluate technical assistance programs, including those that aim to contribute to worker voice (Zukoski and Luluquisen 2002; Guijt 2014).

Participatory methodologies in the study of worker voice in global supply chains are recent. In a study of collective bargaining in the apparel industry in Honduras, Mark Anner (2024) worked with local worker/unionists to develop a "worker-driven research" approach. The method meant that workers participated in the research design, data gathering, and analysis of findings. Workers formed teams and conducted the research under the guidance of the lead researcher, together working out survey instruments, piloting a survey, conducting the full survey, and collectively analyzing the survey results. The worker-driven research methodology is a mechanism for enabling workers' voice, by equipping workers with tools to study the power relationships affecting their livelihoods (Anner 2024).

Conclusion

This extensive literature on worker voice leads to the conclusion that it refers to action by and for workers to improve their terms and conditions of employment and is effective when collective, democratic, inclusive, protected, empowered, and enabled. The exit-voice-loyalty framework conceptualized worker voice made possible through union collective bargaining as the alternative to seeking other employment or enduring poor working conditions. This model thus applied a new term to a long-studied phenomenon, how workers represent their interests in relations with employers and governments. The phrase worker voice, however, gained wider usage in a conjuncture of increasing managerial bargaining power, which contributed to its use to describe communications between individual workers and employers, often sought by the employer to enhance productivity. This use of the term is limited primarily to Anglophone countries. Internationally, studies of the phenomenon of how workers improve terms and conditions of employment tend to refer to international standards of freedom of association and collective bargaining rights rather than the metaphoric phrase "worker voice." With important exceptions, led by the ILO 2022 report on collective bargaining, studies of this understanding of worker voice as a means of interest representation continue to be most common in select industries North America and Europe. Case studies of worker voice mechanisms in less studied locations and industries provide an opportunity to explore the characteristics of effective worker voice suggested by the extant literature. In this literature review, we briefly illustrated the use of collective worker voice in several emblematic cases. The effectiveness of those cases is explored in a report commissioned by the USDOL that will complement this literature review.

References

- Accord on Fire and Building Safety in Bangladesh (Bangladesh Accord) (2018). [website]. https://bangladeshaccord.org/ (last accessed 4 April 2023).
- Addison, John T., Claus Schnabel, and Joachim Wagner. 2001. "Works councils in Germany: their effects on establishment performance." Oxford Economic Papers. 53(4): 659-694.
- Adhvaryu, Achyuta, Teresa Molina & Anant Nyshadham . 2019. Expectations, Wage Hikes, and Worker Voice: Evidence from a Field Experiment NBER WP 25866. (now published in the Economic Journal, V.132 (645). July 2022).
- Agarwala, Rina. (2008). "Reshaping the Social Contract: Emerging Relations between the State and Informal Labor in India." *Theory and Society* 37(4):375–408.
- -----. (2014). "Informal Workers' Struggles in Eight Countries." *Brown Journal of World Affairs* 20(2):251–63.
- Ahlquist, John S. (2017). "Labor Unions, Political Representation, and Economic Inequality".

 Annual Review of Political Science 20: 409–432
- Aidt, Toke and Zafiris Tzannatos. (2002). "Unions and Collective Bargaining: Economic Effects in a Global Environment." Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Amable, B. (2003). The Diversity of Modern Capitalism. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Anderson, Bridget and Martin Ruhs. (2012). "Reliance on migrant labour: inevitability or policy choice?" *The Journal of Poverty and Social Justice* 20(1): 23-30.
- Andreasson, Hannes. (2014). "The effect of decentralized wage bargaining on the structure of wages and firm performance." Ratio Working Papers, 241. Stockholm: The Ratio Institute.
- Anner, Mark. "Two Logics of Labor Organizing in the Global Apparel Industry." *International Studies Quarterly* 53(3):545–70.
- -----. (2012). "Corporate social responsibility and freedom of association rights: the precarious quest for legitimacy and control in global supply chains. *Politics & Society*. 40 (4), 609–644
- ----- (2015). "Labor Control Regimes and Worker Resistance in Global Supply Chains" *Labor History* 56(3): 292-307.
- -----. (2017). "Wildcat strikes and Better Work bipartite committees in Vietnam: Toward an elect, represent, protect and empower framework." Discussion Paper 24. International Labour Organization and International Finance Corporation.
- ----- (2017). "CSR Participation Committees, Wildcat Strikes and the Sourcing Squeeze in Global Supply Chains." *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 56(1), 75–98.
- ----- (2022). "Power relations in global supply chains and the unequal distribution of costs during crises: Abandoning garment suppliers and workers during the COVID-19 pandemic." *International Labour Review*. 161(1): 59-82.
- -----. (2022). "Bargaining for Decent Work and Beyond: Transforming Work and Lives through Collective Bargaining Agreements in the Honduran Maquila Sector." The Center for Global Workers' Rights, The Pennsylvania State University. https://ler.la.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/2022/06/Honduras-maquila-report.pdf (last accessed 2/4/23).

- ------. (2023). "The Contested Terrain of Global Production: Collective versus Private Labor Governance on Guatemalan Banana Plantations." *Review of International Political Economy*.
- -----. (2024). "Worker-Driven Co-Research in Global Supply Chains: Three Studies from Latin America." *New Labor Forum* 33 (1): 32-42.
- Anner, Mark, Jennifer Bair, and Jeremy Blasi. (2013). "Towards Joint Liability in Global Supply Chains: Addressing the Root Causes of Labor Violations in International Subcontracting Networks." Comparative Labor Law & Policy Journal 35(1):1–43.
- Anner, Mark, Matthew Fischer-Daly, and Michael Maffie. (2021). "Fissured Employment and Network Bargaining: Emerging Employment Relations Dynamics in a Contingent World of Work" *ILR Review* 73(3): 689-714.
- Anner, M., & Liu, X. (2016). Harmonious Unions and Rebellious Workers. *ILR Review*, 69(1), 3–28.
- Anwar, M. A., & Graham, M. (2020). Hidden transcripts of the gig economy: labour agency and the new art of resistance among African gig workers. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 52(7), 1269–1291.
- Appelbaum, Richard P. and Nelson Lichtenstein. (Eds.). (2016). *Achieving Workers' Rights in the Global Economy*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Arrighi, G. (1994/2010). *The long twentieth century: money, power, and the origins of our times.* London: Verso.
- Artz, Benjamin, David G. Blanchflower & Alex Bryson. (2021). Unions Increase Job Satisfaction in the United States. NBER WP 281717.
- Asia Floor Wage. (2021). "Joint Employer Liability Legal Strategy: Holding Global Apparel Brands Legally Liable for Labour Rights Violations in their Supply Chains in Asia."

 https://asia.floorwage.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Joint-Employer-Liability-Legal-Strategy compressed.pdf
- Asia Floor Wage Alliance, GLJ-ILRF, TTCU. (2022). "Dindigul Agreement Fact Sheet." [webpage] https://asia.floorwage.org/dindigul-agreement-to-eliminate-gender-based-violence-and-harassment-signed/ (last accessed 2/4/23).
- Ashenfelter, Orley C., David Card, Henry S. Farber, and Michael Ransom. (2021). "Monopsony in the Labor Market: New Empirical Results and New Public Policies." National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 29522.
- Atleson, James, Lance Compa, Kerry Rittich, Calvin William Sharpe, and Marley S. Weiss. (2008). International Labor Law: Cases and Materials on Workers' Rights in the Global Economy. St. Paul, MN: Thomson West
- Bacon, David. (2016). "Why These Workers Went on Strike—and Why It Matters." *The Nation*. https://www.thenation.com/article/archive/why-these-farm-workers-went-on-strike-and-why-it-matters/ (accessed 4 November 2016).
- Bair, Jennifer. (2005). "Global Capitalism and Commodity Chains: Looking Back, Going Forward." Competition & Change 9(2):153–80.
- Bair, Jennifer and Florence Palpacuer. (2015). CSR Beyond the Corporation: Contested Governance in Global Value Chains. *Global Networks*, 15(s1).
- Bair, Jennifer and Marion Werner. (2011). "The Place of Disarticulations: Global Commodity Production in La Laguna, Mexico." *Environment and Planning A* 43(5):998–1015.

- Baird, Marian, and John Murray. (2014). "Collective Bargaining for Paid Parental Leave in Australia 2005–2010: A Complex Context Effect". *The Economic and Labour Relations Review* 25 (1): 47–62.
- BananaLink. (2016). Rainforest Alliance and the Discount Supermarkets: Low Prices and Easy Standards? https://www.bananalink.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Rainforest_Alliance_and_the_Discount_Supermarkets_Low_Prices_and_Easy_Standards_Final.pdf (accessed 12 October 2019).
- Banarjee, Asha, Margaret Poydock, Celine McNicholas, Ihna Mangundayao, and Ali Sait. (2021).
 "Unions are not only good for workers, they're good for communities and democracy."
 Washington: Economic Policy Institute.
- Banco de Previsión Social. (2019). "The Case in Uruguay: E-Formality Domestic Work and Unified Electronic Payroll." Presentation to the 2019 International Labour Conference exhibition on the transition to the formal economy.

 https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/---emp-policy/documents/publication/wcms-713585.pdf (last accessed 2/4/23)
- Barrientos, S., Gereffi, G., Rossi, A. (2011). Economic and social upgrading in global production networks: A new paradigm for a changing world. *International Labour Review*
- Barrientos, S., & Smith, S. (2007). Do Workers Benefit from Ethical Trade? Assessing Codes of Labour Practice in Global Production Systems. *Third World Quarterly*, 28(4), 713–729.
- Barth, Erling, Alex Bryson, and Harald Dale-Olsen. (2020). "Union Density Effects on Productivity and Wages." *The Economic Journal* 130 (October): 1898-1936.
- Bartley, Tim. (2005). "Corporate Accountability and the Privatization of Labor Standards: Struggles Over Codes of Conduct in the Apparel Industry." *Research in Political Sociology* 14:211–44.
- Bartley, Tim, and Niklas Egels-Zandén, N. (2015). Responsibility and Neglect in Global Production Networks: The Uneven Significance of Codes of Conduct in Indonesian Factories. *Global Networks*, 15(s1), S21–S44.
- Bartley, T., & Egels-Zandén, N. (2016). Beyond decoupling: Unions and the leveraging of corporate social responsibility in Indonesia. *Socio-Economic Review*, 14(2), 231–255.
- Batt Rosemary, Alexander Colvin, and Jeffrey Keefe. (2002). Employee voice, human resource practices, and quit rates: Evidence from the telecommunication industry. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 55: 573–94.
- Baumann-Pauly, D., Nolan, J., van Heerden, A., & Samway, M. (2017). Industry-Specific Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives That Govern Corporate Human Rights Standards: Legitimacy assessments of the Fair Labor Association and the Global Network Initiative. *Journal of Business Ethics*. 143(4): 771–787.
- Bellamy Foster, John. (2007). "The Financialization of Capitalism." *Monthly Review* 58(11):1–12.
- Bennett, E. A. (2017). Who Governs Socially-Oriented Voluntary Sustainability Standards? Not the Producers of Certified Products. *World Development*, 91, 53–69.
- Bensusán Areous, Graciela. (2020). "The Transformation of the Mexican Labour Regulation Model and Its Link to North American Economic Integration." ILO Working Paper 15. Geneva: ILO.

- ----- (2007). (2007), "Los determinantes institucionales de los contratos de protección" In Contratación Colectiva de Protección en México, edited by Alfonso Bouzas, Reprot to the Organización Regional Interamericana de Trabajadores (ORIT).
- Bensusán, Graciela and Kevin J. Middlebrook. (2013). Sindicatos y política en México: cambios, continuidades y contradicciones. México: FLACSO México and UAM; Xochimilco: CLACSO.
- Besky, Sarah. (2015). "Agricultural Justice, Abnormal Justice? An Analysis of Fair Trade's Plantation Problem." *Antipode* 47(5):1141–60.
- Blanchflower, David G. and Alex Bryson. (2003). "What Effect do Unions Have on Wages Now and Would 'What Do Unions Do' Be Surprised? NBER WP 9973
- Blanchflower, David G. and Alex Bryson. (2021). "Now Unions Increase Job Satisfaction and Well-Being." National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 27720. Cambridge, MA.
- Blasi, Jeremy and Jennifer Bair. (2019). "An analysis of multiparty bargaining models for global supply chains." Geneva: International Labour Organization. ISSN: 2226-8952
- Blau, Francine D., and Lawrence M. Kahn. (1996). "International Differences in Male Wage Inequality: Institutions versus Market Forces". *Journal of Political Economy* 104 (4): 791–837.
- Blau, Francine D and Lawrence M. Kahn. (2003). "Understanding International Differences in the Gender Pay Gap." *Journal of Labor Economics* 21 (1): 106–144.
- Block, Sharon and Benjamin Sachs. (2020). "Clean Slate for Worker Power." Boston: Harvard Law School Labor and Worklife Program.
- Borkholder J, Montgomery M, Chen MS, Smith R. (2018). "Uber state interference: how transportation network companies buy, bully, and bamboozle their way to deregulation." New York: National Employment Law Project. https://www.nelp.org/publication/uber-state-interference/
- Bosch, Gerhard. (2015). "Shrinking Collective Bargaining Coverage, Increasing Income Inequality: A Comparison of Five EU Countries". *International Labour Review* 154 (1): 57–66.
- Boxall, Peter. and Keith Macky. (2009) "Research and Theory on High-Performance Work Systems: Progressing the High-Involvement Stream." *Human Resource Management Journal*, 19(1):3–23.
- Boxall, Peter and John Purcell. (2011) *Strategy and Human Resource Management (3rd edition)*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Braithwaite, J., & Drahos, P. (2000). *Global business regulation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Brandl, B., & Braakmann, N. (2021). "The effects of collective bargaining systems on the productivity function of firms." *Industrial Relations Journal*, *52*(3): 218–236.
- Braun, Bettina, Avery Kelly, and Charity Ryerson. (2021). "Worker-Enforceable Supplier Codes of Conduct as a Tool for Access to Justice in Global Supply Chains" *The Global Labour Rights Reporter*. 1(1): 7-10.
- Bray, Mark, John W. Budd, Johanna Macneil. (2020). "The Many Meanings of Co-Operation in the Employment Relationship and Their Implications." *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 58(1), 114–141.

- Brewster, Chris, Richard Croucher, and Thomas Prosser. (2019). *Employee Voice and Participation: The European Perspective*. Singapore: Springer.
- Bronfenbrenner, K. (2009). The Intensification of Employer Opposition to Organizing (No. 235; EPI Briefing Paper, p. 33). Economic Policy Institute.

 https://ecommons.cornell.edu/bitstream/handle/1813/74292/Bronfenbrenner81_No_Holds_Barred.pdf?sequence=1
- -----. (2022). "In Solidarity: Removing Barriers to Organizing." Testimony before the United States House Committee on Education and Labor, September 14, 2022.

 https://ecommons.cornell.edu/bitstream/handle/1813/111838/Bronfenbrenner106%20

 Housetestimonyfinal9142022.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y
- Brookes, Marissa. (2019). *The new politics of transnational labor: why some alliances succeed.*Ithaca: ILR Press, an imprint of Cornell Press.
- Brookes, Marissa and Ian Kinzel. (2019). "Global Labor Collective Action: An Evidence Review for Learning Evaluation and Research Activity II (LER II)." Landover, MD: The Cloudburst Group, for the United States Agency for International Development.
- Brown, Sandy. (2013). "One hundred years of labor control: Violence, militancy, and the Fairtrade banana commodity chain in Colombia." *Environment and Planning A*, 45, 2572–2591.
- Brown, S., & Getz, C. (2008). Privatizing farm worker justice: Regulating labor through voluntary certification and labeling. *Geoforum*, *39*(3), 1184–1196.
- Brudney, James (2010). "Collateral Conflict: Employer Claims of RICO Extortion Against Union Comprehensive Campaigns." Southern California Law Review 83(4): 731-796.
- Bryson, Alex and David Wilkinson. (2001). "Collective Bargaining and Workplace Performance: An Investigation Using the Workplace Employee Relations Survey 1998." Policy Studies Institute for UK Department of Trade and Industry.
- Budd, John. (2021). *Labor relations: striking a balance. (Sixth edition.)*. New York, NY: McGraw Hill Education.
- Budd, John W., Paul J. Gollan, and Adrian Wilkinson. (2010). "New Approaches to Employee Voice and Participation in Organizations." *Human Relations* 63(3):303–10.
- Budd, John W., J. Ryan Lamare, and Andrew R. Timming. (2018). Learning about Democracy at Work: Cross-National Evidence on Individual Employee Voice Influencing Political Participation in Civil Society. *ILR Review*, 71(4), 956–985.
- Budd, John and J. Ryan Lamare. (2021). "The relative importance of industrial relations ideas in politics: A quantitative analysis of political party manifestos across 54 countries." Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society 61(1): 22-49.
- Budlender, Debbie, and Shaheeda Sadeck. (2007). "Bargaining Council and Other Benefit Schemes". Background paper prepared for the National Treasury of South Africa.
- Burawoy, Michael. (1976). "The Functions and Reproduction of Migrant Labor: Comparative Material from Southern Africa and the United States." *American Journal of Sociology* 81(5):1050–87.
- Butcher, K. F., & Rouse, C. E. (2001). "Wage Effects of Unions and Industrial Councils in South Africa." *ILR Review*, 54(2), 349–374.
- Card, D. (1996). "The effects of unions on the structure of wages: A longitudinal analysis." *Econometrica*, 64, 957–979.

- Card, David. (1998). "Falling Union Membership and Rising Wage Inequality: What's the Connection?" NBER Working Paper Series, 6520.
- Card, David, Thomas Lemieux, and W. Craig Riddell. (2003). "Unions and the Wage Structure". In *International Handbook of Trade Unions*, edited by John T. Addison and Claus Schnabel, 246–292. Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar.
- Cini, Lorenzo. (2021). "Resisting algorithmic control: Understanding the rise and variety of platform worker mobilisations." *New Technology, Work and Employment* 1-20.
- Chakrabarty, Dipesh. (1989). *Rethinking working-class history: Bengal, 1890-1940.* Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press.
- Charlwood, Andy; Pollert, Anna. (2014). "Informal Employment Dispute Resolution among Lowwage Non-union Workers: Does Managerially Initiated Workplace Voice Enhance Equity and Efficiency?" *British Journal of Industrial Relations*. 52(2); 359-86.
- Chattaraj, Shahana. (2016). "Organising the Unorganised: Union Membership and Earning in India's Informal Economy." BSG Working Paper No. 2016/015. University of Oxford, Blavatnik School of Government.
- Collier, Ruth Berins, V.B. Dubal, and Christopher L. Carter. (2018). "Disrupting regulation, regulating disruption: the politics of Uber in the United States." *Perspectives on Politics* 16(4):919–37
- Commons, John R. (1909). "American Shoemakers, 1648-1895: A Sketch of Industrial Evolution." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 24(1), 39–84.
- Commons, John R. (1959). *Institutional economics; its place in political economy*. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Compa, Lance A. (2000). "Unfair Advantage: Workers' Freedom of Association in the United States under International Human Rights Standards." New York, Washington, London, Brussels: Human Rights Watch.
- Compa, Lance. (2014). "The Wagner model and international freedom of association standards." In Dominic Roux (Ed.), *Autonomie collective et droit du travail. Mélanges en l'honneur du professeur Pierre Verge*. Québec City, Canada: Presses de l'Université Laval, p. 427-461.
- Córdova, Efrén. (1996). "The Challenge of Flexibility in Latin America." *Comparative Labor Law Journal* 17 (2): 314-337.
- Cornell, Angela B. and Mark Barenberg (Eds.) (2022). *Cambridge Handbook of Labor and Democracy*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Cornell ILR. (n.d). "ILR Labor Action Tracker," [database] https://striketracker.ilr.cornell.edu/
- Cornia, Giovanni Andrea, ed. (2014). *Falling Inequality in Latin America: Policy Changes and Lessons*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Crane, A., Pallazzo, G., Spence, L. J., & Matten, D. (2014). Contesting the Value of "Creating Shared Value." *California Management Review*, *56*(2), 130–154
- Crenshaw, Kimerle. (1991). "Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence Against Women of Color." *Stanford Law Review* 43(6): 1241-1299.
- Croucher, Richard and Elizabeth Cotton. (2009). *Global Unions, Global Business*. Middlesex University Press.

- Cruz, Sofia Alexandra and Ana Gameiro. (2022). "Digital work platform: Understanding platforms, workers, clients in a service relation," *Frontiers in Sociology* DOI 10.3389/fsoc.2022.1075808.
- Dale, Jason and Alex Haag. (2022). "Research Insights on Platform Workers." Washington, DC.
- Davis, Mike. 2002. "The Origins of the Third World: Markets, States, and Climate." *The Corner House* (December 2002) 1–36.
- Delp, Linda, Ed.; Outman-Kramer, Miranda, Ed.; Schurman, Susan J., Ed.; Wong, Kent, Ed. (2002). *Teaching for Change: Popular Education and the Labor Movement*. Los Angeles: UCLA Center for Labor Research and Education.
- De Stefano, Valerio. (2016). "The rise of the 'just-in-time workforce': On demand work, crowdwork, and labor protection in the 'gig-economy'", Working Paper 71. Conditions of Work and Employment Series (Geneva, ILO).
- Devicienti, Francesco and Bernardo Fanfani. (2021). "Firms' Margins of Adjustment to Wage Growth: The Case of Italian Collective Bargaining." IZA Institute of Labor Economics Discussion Paper 14532. Bonn.
- Dinlersoz, Emin M. and Jeremy Greenwood. (2012). "The Rise and Fall of Unions in the U.S." NBER WP 18079.
- Distelhorst, G., & Locke, R. M. (2018). "Does Compliance Pay? Social Standards and Firm-Level Trade." *American Journal of Political Science* 62(3), 695–711.
- Distelhorst, G., Locke, R. M., Pal, T., & Samel, H. (2015). "Production goes global, compliance stays local: Private regulation in the global electronics industry." *Regulation and Governance*, 9(3), 224–242.
- Doellgast, V. (2010). "Collective Voice under Decentralized Bargaining: A Comparative Study of Work Reorganization in US and German Call Centres." *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 48(2), 375–399.
- Dolan, Julie. (2004). "Gender Equity: Illusion or Reality for Women in the Federal Executive Service?" *Public Administration Review* 64(3): 299-308.
- Donaghey, J., Cullinane, N., Dundon, T., & Dobbins, T. (2012). "Non-union employee representation, union avoidance and the managerial agenda." *Economic & Industrial Democracy*, 33(2), 163–183.
- Donaghey, J., & Reinecke, J. (2018). "When Industrial Democracy Meets Corporate Social Responsibility A Comparison of the Bangladesh Accord and Alliance as Responses to the Rana Plaza Disaster." *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 56(1), 14–42.
- Doucouliagos, Hristos, Richard B. Freeman, and Patrice Laroche. (2017). *The Economics of Trade Unions: A study of a research field and its findings*. London and New York: Routledge.
- DuBois, W.E. Burghardt. (1935). *Black Reconstruction in America*. Rahway, NJ: Quinn & Boden Company, Inc.
- Dundon, T., Cullinane, N., Donaghey, J., Dobbins, T., Wilkinson, A., & Hickland, E. (2015). "Double-breasting employee voice: An assessment of motives, arrangements and durability." *Human Relations*, 68(3), 489–513.
- Dunlop, John T. (1958). Industrial relations systems. New York: Holt.
- Eaton, Adrienne E. and Paula B. Voos. (1992). "Unions and contemporary innovations in work organization, compensation, and employee participation." In L. Mishel and P.B. Voos (eds.) *Unions and Economic Competitiveness*, Armonk, NY: M.E. Sharpe, 173-211.

- Eaton, Adrienne E., Susan J. Schurman, & Martha A. Chen. (Eds.). (2017). *Informal workers and collective action: a global perspective*. Ithaca: ILR Press, an imprint of Cornell University Press.
- Egels-Zandén, N., & Merk, J. (2014). "Private Regulation and Trade Union Rights: Why Codes of Conduct Have Limited Impact on Trade Union Rights." *Journal of Business Ethics*, 123(3), 461–473.
- Elliot, K. and Freeman, R. (2003). *Can Labor Standards Improve Under Globalization?*Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics
- Engels, Friedrich. (1881). "Trades Unions." The Labour Standard. No. 4, May 28, 1881.
- England, P. (2010). "The gender revolution: Uneven and stalled." *Gender & Society*, 24(2), 149–166
- Economic Policy Institute (EPI). (2021). "Unions help reduce disparities and strengthen our democracy," Washington: EPI.
- Esbenshade, J. (2004). *Monitoring Sweatshops: Workers, Consumers, and the Global Apparel Industry*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press
- Estey, James A. (1928). The Labor Problem. New York: McGraw Hill.
- Ethical Trade Initiative (ETI). (2022). "Myanmar enhanced due diligence sectoral assessment." https://www.ethicaltrade.org/resources/myanmar-enhanced-due-diligence-sectoral-assessment (last accessed 5 April 2023).
- Farmworker Justice (2011). "No Way to Treat a Guest: Why the H-2A Agricultural Visa Program Fails U.S. and Foreign Workers" Washington, DC: Farmworker Justice.
- Farber, Henry S.; Herbst, Daniel; Kuziemko, Ilyana; Naidu, Suresh. 2021. "Unions and Inequality over the Twentieth Century: New Evidence from Survey Data." *Quarterly Journal of Economics*. 136(3). 1325-1385.
- Farndale, Elaine, Anthony McDonnell, Dora Scholarios, and Adrian Wilkinson. (2020). "Human Resource Management Journal: A look to the past, present, and future of the journal and HRM scholarship." *Human Resource Management Journal*, 30(1), 1–12.
- Ferguson, John Paul. (2008). "The Eyes of the Needles: A Sequential Model of Union Organizing Drives, 1999-2004." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 62(1):3–21.
- Ferreras, Isabelle, Julie Battilana, Dominique Méda, and Miranda Richmond Mouillot. (2022). Democratize Work: The case for reorganizing the economy. Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press.
- Financial Action Task Force (FATF) (2022). "Myanmar: High-Risk Jurisdictions subject to a Call for Action." https://www.fatf-gafi.org/en/countries/detail/Myanmar.html (last accessed 5 April 2023).
- Fine, Janice. (2005). Worker Centers: Organizing Communities at the Edge of the Dream. Ithaca and London: ILR Press, an imprint of Cornell University Press.
- -----. (2007). "A Marriage Made in Heaven? Mismatches and Misunderstandings between Worker Centres and Unions." *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 45(2), 335–360.
- -----. (2011). "New Forms to Settle Old Scores: Updating the Worker Centre Story in the United States." *Industrial Relations / Relations Industrielles*, 66(4), 604–630.
- Fine, Janice, Victor Narro and Jacob Barnes. (2018). "Understanding Worker Center Trajectories," in *No One Size Fits All: Worker Organization, Policy, and Movement in a*

- *New Economic Age*, Janice Fine, Linda Burnham, Kati Griffith, Minsun Ji, Victor Narro and Steven Pitts (eds.). LERA.
- Finnegan, B. (2013). "Responsibility Outsourced: Social Audits, Workplace Certification and Twenty Years of Failure to Protect Worker Rights." Washington DC: AFL-CIO. [online] https://aflcio.org/reports/responsibility-outsourced
- Fischer-Daly, Matthew. (2021). "Human Dignity and Power: Worker Struggles against Precarity in U.S. Agribusiness." *Labor Studies Journal* 46(4):369–93.
- ----- (2023). International Trade, Labor Relations, and Bargaining Power: International Strawberry Commodity Networks. London: Routledge Taylor & Francis Group.
- Fischer-Daly, Matthew and Mark Anner. (2021). "Fighting for Work With Dignity in the Fields: Agriculture Global Supply Chains in Morocco, Colombia, Guatemala, and Mexico."

 [online] https://www.solidaritycenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Agriculture-Global-Supply-Chains.8.2021.pdf
- Fischer-Daly, Matthew M., Jason Judd, and Sarosh Kuruvilla. 2022. "Learning from Crisis: Apparel Industry Experts on Mitigating the COVID-19 Pandemic and Future Crises. Geneva: International Labour Office and Ithaca: Cornell University ILR School Global Labor Institute.
- Flecker, Jörg, and Annika Schönauer. (2013). "European Diversity of Work Sharing as a Crisis Measure: The Experiences of Austria, Belgium, France and the Netherlands". In *Work Sharing during the Great Recession: New Developments and Beyond*, edited by Jon C. Messenger and Naj Ghosheh, Geneva: ILO, 72–98.
- Fletcher, Bill & Fernando Gapasin. (2008). *Solidarity divided: the crisis in organized labor and a new path toward social justice*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2016). *Assessment of international labour standards that apply to rural employment*. FAO: Rome.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2018). *Regulating Labour and Safety Standards in the Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Sectors*. Rome.
- Ford, Michele. 2019. From Migrant to Worker: Global Unions and Temporary Labor Migration in Asia. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Fortin, Nicole M., Thomas Lemieux & Neil Lloyd. (2021). "Labor Market Institutions and the Distribution of Wages: The Role of Spillover Effects." NBER WP 28375
- Fox, Alan. (1974). Beyond Contract Work, Power and Trust Relations. London: Faber.
- Frank, Larry and Kent Wong. (2004). "Dynamic Political Mobilization: The Los Angeles County Federation of Labor." *Labor & Society* 8(2): 155-181.
- Fransen, L. (2013). "Global Companies and the Private Regulation of Global Labor Standards." The Handbook of Global Companies, edited by John Mikler. West Sussex, UK: Wiley-Blackwell, p. 437–455.
- Freeman, R. Edward. (1984). *Strategic Management: A Stakeholder Approach*. Boston: Pitman. Freeman, Richard and James Medoff. (1984). *What do Unions Do?* New York: Basic Books.
- Friedman, Eli. (2013). Insurgency and institutionalization: the Polanyian countermovement and Chinese labor politics. *Theory & Society*, 42(3), 295–327.
- Frundt, Henry. J. (2002). "Central American unions in the era of globalization." *Latin American Research Review* 37 (3): 7–53.

- ----- (2009). Fair bananas: Farmers, workers, and consumers strive to change an industry. Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona Press.
- Frymer, Paul and Jacob M. Grumbach. (2020). "Labor Unions and White Racial Politics." *American Journal of Political Science* 65(1): 225-240.
- Gaddis, I., & Pieters, J. (2017). "The gendered labour market impacts of trade liberalization evidence from Brazil." *Journal of Human Resources*,52(2), 457–490
- Gandini A (2019) "Labour process theory and the gig economy." *Human Relations* 72(6): 1039–1056.
- Garnero, A., Rycx, F., & Terraz, I. (2018). "Productivity and Wage Effects of Firm-Level Collective Agreements: Evidence from Belgian Linked Panel Data." In *SSRN* Discussion Paper Series, IZA Institute of Labor Economics, No. 11568.
- Garver, Paul, Kirill Buketov, Hyewon Chong, and Beatriz Sosa Martinez. (2007). "Global Labor Organizing in Theory and Practice." *Labor Studies Journal* 32(3):237–56.
- Glassner, Vera, Maarten Keune, and Paul Marginson. (2011). "Collective Bargaining in a Time of Crisis: Developments in the Private Sector in Europe". *Transfer: European Review of Labour and Research* 17 (3): 303–321
- Glenn, Evelyn Nakano. 1992. "From Servitude to Service Work: Historical Continuities in the Racial Division of Paid Reproductive Labor." Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society 18(1):1–43.
- Global Labor Justice International Labor Rights Forum (GLJ-ILRF). 2022. "Honduran Melon Pickers Decry Fruit Giant Fyffes Refusal to Sign Agreement and Demand No Retaliation in Hiring," [webpage] https://laborrights.org/blog/202211/honduran-melon-pickers-decry-fruit-giant-fyffes-refusal-sign-agreement-and-demand-no (last accessed 2/4/2023)
- Godfrey, Shane, Trenton Elsley, and Michelle Taal. (2017). "Sectoral Collective Bargaining, Productivity and Competitiveness in South Africa's Clothing Value Chain: Manufacturers between a Rock and a Hard Place." Conditions of work and employment series, Geneva: ILO.
- Golden, Lonnie. 2015. "Irregular Work Scheduling and its Consequences." Washington: Economic Policy Institute.
- Goldsmith, Mary R. (2017). "Domestic Workers in Uruguay: Collective Bargaining Agreement and Legal Protection." In Adrienne Eaton, Susan J. Schurman, and Martha A. Chen (Eds.), Informal Workers and Collective Action: A Global Perspective. Ithaca and London: Cornell University Press/ILR Press, p. 96-119.
- Gomez, R., Barry, M., Bryson, A., Kaufman, B.E., Lomas, G. and Wilkinson, A. (2019), "The "good workplace": The role of joint consultative committees, unions and HR policies in employee ratings of workplaces in Britain", Journal of Participation and Employee Ownership, Vol. 2 No. 1, pp. 60-90.
- González Fernández, Maria José. (2013). "Results of the Implementation of the Suspension and Partial Unemployment Insurance Programmes in Uruguay, 2009–2010". In *Work Sharing during the Great Recession: New Developments and Beyond*, edited by Jon C. Messenger and Naj Ghosheh, Geneva: ILO, 151–202.
- Gordon, Jennifer. (2007). "Regulating the Human Supply Chain." *Iowa Law Review* 102:445–504.

- -----. (2011). "Citizens of the Global Economy: A Proposal to Universalize the Rights of Transnational Labor." *New Labor Forum*, 20(1): 56-64
- -----. (2017). The Problem with Corporate Social Responsibility. Worker-Driven Social Responsibility Network, https://wsr-network.org/resource/the-problem-with-corporate-social-responsibility/ (accessed 16 May 2019).
- -----. (2022). "In the zone: Work at the intersection of trade and migration." *Theoretical Inquiries in Law*, 23(2): 147-183.
- Gould, Elise and Celine McNicholas. 2017. "Unions help narrow the gender wage gap." Washington: Economic Policy Institute.
- Greenberg, S. (2013). A gendered analysis of wine export value chains from South Africa to Sweden. *Agrekon*, 52(3),34–62.
- Guijt, Irene. (2014). "Participatory Approaches." Methodological Briefs: Impact Evaluation 5, Florence: UNICEF Office of Research. https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/brief 5 participatoryapproaches eng.pdf (accessed 14 May 2023).
- Gumbrell-McCormick, R., & Hyman, R. (2006). Embedded collectivism? Workplace representation in France and Germany. *Industrial Relations Journal*, 37(5), 473–491.
- -----. (2019). "Democracy in trade unions, democracy through trade unions?" *Economic & Industrial Democracy*, 40(1), 91–110.
- Hadwiger, Felix. (2022). "Realizing the Opportunities of the Platform Economy through Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining." Geneva: International Labour Organization.
- Harberger, Arnold C. (1964). "The measurement of waste." *American Economic Review* 54 (3): 58-76.
- Harvey, David. (2003). The new imperialism. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hayter, Susan. (2015). "Unions and Collective Bargaining". In *Labour Markets, Institutions and Inequality: Building Just Societies in the 21st Century,* edited by Janine Berg. Geneva: ILO; Cheltenham, UK, and Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar, 95–122.
- Hayter, Susan and Bradley Weinberg. (2011). "Mind the Gap: Collective Bargaining and Wage Inequality," in Susan Hayter (ed.), *The Role of Collective Bargaining in the Global Economy: Negotiating for Social Justice*. Geneva: International Labour Office, p. 136-186.
- Healy, Geraldine, and Gill Kirton. (2013). "The Early Mobilization of Women Union Leaders A Comparative Perspective." *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 51(4):709-32.
- Heeks, R. (2017) "Digital economy and digital labour terminology: Making sense of the 'gig economy', 'online labour', 'crowd work', 'microwork', 'platform labour', Etc." Centre for Development Informatics, University of Manchester.
- Hermanson, Jeffery. (2022). "Mexico's Independent Union Movement: An Overview of Recent Victories and Challenges Ahead," Labor Notes, November 9, 2022. https://labornotes.org/blogs/2022/11/mexicos-independent-union-movement-overview-recent-victories-and-challenges-ahead (last accessed 2/4/23).
- Hirschman, Albert O. (1970). *Exit, Voice, and Loyalty: Responses to Decline in Firms, Organizations, and States*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Holmes, Seth M. (2013). *Fresh Fruit, Broken Bodies*. Berkeley, Los Angeles, London: University of California Press.

- Hossain, Naomi. (2017). Food Riots, Food Rights and the Politics of Provisions. New York: Routledge.
- Howell, Chris. 2021. "Rethinking the Role of the State in Employment Relations for a Neoliberal Era." *ILR Review* 74(3):739–72.
- International Accord for Health and Safety in the Textile and Garment Industry (International Accord). (2023). [website]. https://internationalaccord.org/ (last accessed 4 April 2023).
- International Domestic Workers Federation (IDWF). 2022. "Leadership, Unity, renovation and Amplification (LUNA)." [webpage] https://idwfed.org/leadership-unity-renovation-and-amplification-luna/ (last accessed 2/4/23)
- International Labour Organization (ILO). (2008). Promotion of Rural Employment for Poverty Reduction, International Labour Conference, 97th session, report IV, Geneva: International Labour Office.
- -----. (n.d.) "What is child labour." [webpage] https://www.ilo.org/ipec/facts/lang--en/index.htm (last accessed 5 April 2023).
- -----. (2012). "ILO indicators of Forced Labour." WCMS 203832.
- -----. (2020a). *World Employment and Social Outlook Trends 2020*. Geneva: ILO. ISBN 978-92-2-031407-4.
- -----. (2020b). "2020 Global Estimates of Child Labour." Geneva: ILO. ISBN 978-92-2-034879-6.
- -----. (2021a). World Employment and Social Outlook: The Role of Digital Labour the World of Work. Geneva: International Labour Office.
- -----. (2021b). ILO Global Estimates on International Migrant Workers: Results and Methodology, 3rd ed.
- -----. (2022a). Social Dialogue Report 2022: Collective bargaining for an inclusive, sustainable and resilient recovery. Geneva: ILO.
- -----. (2022b). "Protection against acts of anti-union discrimination: Evidence from the updated IRLex database." Geneva: ILO.
- -----. (2022c). "Report of the Committee on the Application of Standards: Part Two. ILC.110/Record No.4B/P.II.
- ------ (2022d) ILO and UNICEF Office of Research Innocenti, "The role of social protection in the elimination of child labour: Evidence review and policy implications." Geneva and Florence: International Labour Organization and UNICEF Office of Research Innocenti, 2022. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---ipec/documents/publication/wcms_845168.pdf (accessed 8 August 2023).
- -----. (2023a). "Protection against acts of interference for employers' and workers' organizations: Evidence from the updated IRLex database." Geneva: ILO.
- -----. (2023b). "Domestic workers" [webpage] https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/domestic-workers/lang--en/index.htm (last accessed 5 April 2023).
- -----. (2023c). "Report of the Committee of Experts on the Application of Conventions and Recommendations." ILC.111/III(A).
- ILO, Walk Free, and International Organization for Migration (IOM). (2022). "Global Estimates of Modern Slavery: Forced Labour and Forced Marriage." Geneva: ILO. ISBN: 978-92-2-037483-2.

- ILOSTAT. (n.d.) "Statistics on migrant workers." [database] https://ilostat.ilo.org/topics/labour-migration/ (last accessed 31 March 2023)
- Impaq International LLC. (2019). "Synthesis of Evaluation Reports (2014-2018): Final Synthesis Review Report. US Department of Labor Contract Number 1605DC-18-F-00428.
- International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC). (2014). "The Right to Strike and the ILO: The Legal Foundations." https://www.ituc-csi.org/IMG/pdf/ituc final brief on the right to strike.pdf (last accessed 2/4/23)
- International Union of Food, Agricultural, Hotel, Restaurant, Catering, Tobacco and Allied Workers' Associations (IUF/UITA/IUL). N.d. "Financial short-termism: the impact on workers and the fight back." https://www.iuf.org/wp-content/uploads/2020-Financial-short-termism.pdf (last accessed 2/4/23).
- International Union of Food, Agricultural, Hotel, Restaurant, Catering, Tobacco and Allied Workers' Associations (IUF/UITA/IUL) and Global Labor Justice—International Labor Rights Forum (GLJ-ILRF). (2021). "100 Years of Advancing Freedom of Association: ILO Convention 11's Role in Promoting Rights for Agricultural Workers." Geneva and Washington DC: International Union of Food, Agricultural, Hotel, Restaurant, Catering, Tobacco and Allied Workers' Associations and Global Labor Justice International Labor Rights Forum.
- Iversen, T. and D. Soskice (2001). "An asset theory of social policy preferences." *American Political Science Review*, 95(4): 875–93.
- Jacobs, Ken. (2022). "FAST Recovery Act will raise labor standards and open new opportunities for fast-food worker organizing in California" [blog] UC Berkeley Labor Center.

 https://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/fast-recovery-act-will-raise-labor-standards-and-open-new-opportunities-for-fast-food-worker-organizing-in-california/ (accessed 4 February 2023).
- Jäger, Simon, Shakked Noy & Benjamin Schoefer. (2021). "What Does Codetermination Do?" NBER Working Paper 28921.
- Jaehrling, Karen and Philippe Méhaut. (2013). "'Varieties of institutional avoidance': employers' strategies in low-waged service sector occupations in France and Germany." Socio-Economic Review 11(4): 687-710.
- Jaumotte, Florence; Buitron, Carolina Osorio. (2020). "Inequality: Traditional Drivers and the Role of Union Power." *Oxford Economic Papers*. 72(1): 25-58.
- Johnston, Hannah and Chris Land-Kazlauskas. (2018). "Organizing On-Demand: Representation, Voice, and Collective Bargaining in the Gig Economy." Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Julén Votinius, Jenny. (2020). "Collective Bargaining for Working Parents in Sweden and Its Interaction with the Statutory Benefit System". *The International Journal of Comparative Labour Law and Industrial Relations* 36 (3): 367–386
- Kang, Youbin. (2021). "The rise, demise and replacement of the Bangladesh experiment in transnational labour regulation." *International Labour Review*, 160(3): 407-430.
- Katz, Harry C. (1993). "The Decentralization of Collective Bargaining: A Literature Review and Comparative Analysis." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 47(1):3.
- Katz, Harry C. and Charles Sabel (1985), "Industrial relations and industrial adjustment in the car industry." *Industrial Relations*, 24 (3): 295–315.

- Katz, Harry C., Thomas A. Kochan, and Alexander J.S. Colvin. (2017). *An Introduction to U.S. Collective Bargaining and Labor Relations*. Ithaca: ILR, an imprint of Cornell University Press.
- Kaufman, Bruce E. (2008). "What Unions Do: Insights from Economic Theory," in James T.

 Bennett and Bruce E. Kaufman (Eds.) What Do Unions Do? A Twenty-Year Perspective,
 New Brunswick and London: Transaction Publishers, p. 12-45.
- Kaufman, Bruce E. (2012). "Economic Analysis of Labor Markets and Labor Law: An Institutional/Industrial Relations Perspective". In *Research Handbook on the Economics of Labor and Employment Law*, edited by Cynthia Estlund and Michael L. Wachter. Cheltenham, UK; Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar, p. 52–104.
- Keck, Margaret E., and Kathryn Sikkink. (1998). *Activists Beyond Borders: Advocacy Networks in International Politics*. Cornell University Press.
- Keller, Berndt and Anja Kirsch. (2021). "Employment Relations in Germany." In *International and Comparative Employment Relations: Global Crises and Institutional Responses* by Greg J. Bamber, Fang Lee Cooke, Virginia Doellgast, and Chris F. Wright (Eds.). Sage Publications, 183-212.
- Kerr, Clark, John T. Dunlop, Frederick H. Harbison, and Charles A. Myers. (1960). *Industrialism* and industrial man: the problems of labor and management in economic growth. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Khor, Martin. (2001). *Rethinking Globalization: Critical Issues and Policy Choices*. London and New York: Zed Books.
- Klenner, Christina, and Yvonne Lott, eds. (2016). Working Time Options over the Life Course:

 New Regulations and Empirical Findings in Five European Countries. Hans-Böckler-Stiftung.
- Kochan, Thomas A. (1979). "How American workers view labor unions." *Monthly Labor Review* 102(4): 23–31.
- Kochan, Thomas A., Harry C. Katz, Robert B. McKersie. (1994). *The transformation of American industrial relations*. (First ILR Press edition.). Ithaca, N.Y.: ILR Press.
- Kochan, Thomas A., Duanyi Yang, William T. Kimball, and Erin L. Kelly. (2019). Worker Voice in America: Is There a Gap between What Workers Expect and What They Experience? *ILR Review*, 72(1), 3–38.
- Kochan, Thomas. A. and Lee Dyer. (2021). Shaping the future of work: a handbook for building a new social contract. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.
- Kochan, Thomas A., Janice R. Fine, Kate Bronfenbrenner, Suresh Naidu, Jacob Barnes, Yaminette Diaz-Linhart, Johnnie Kallas, Jeonghun Kim, Arrow Minster, Di Tong, Phela Townsend, and Danielle Twiss. (2022). "U.S. Workers' Organizing Efforts and Collective Actions: A review of the current landscape." Worker Empowerment Research Network.
- Kougiannou, Nadia K. and Pedro Mendonça. (2021). "Breaking the Managerial Silencing of Worker Voice in Platform Capitalism: The Rise of a Food Courier Network." *British Journal of Management* 32(3):744–59.
- Kramer, Mark R. and Michael E. Porter. (2011) "Creating Shared Value." *Harvard Business Review*. January-February 2011, 2-17.
- Kuruvilla, S. (2021). *Private Regulation of Labor Standards in Global Supply Chains: Problems, Progress, and Prospects.* ILR Press.

- Kuruvilla, S., & Li, C. (2021). Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining in Global Supply Chains: A Research Agenda. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 57(2), 43–57.
- Kuruvilla, S., Liu, M., Li, C., & Chen, W. (2020). Field Opacity and Practice-Outcome Decoupling: Private Regulation of Labor Standards in Global Supply Chains. ILR Review, 73(4), 841–872.
- Kyritsis, Penelope, Genevieve LeBaron, and Mark Anner. (2019) "New buzzword, same problem: How 'worker voice' initiatives are perpetuating the shortcomings of traditional social auditing" *Business & Human Rights Resource Centre*, 12 March 2019.
- Lamarche, Carlos. (2013). "Industry-wide work rules and productivity: evidence from Argentine Union contract data." *IZA Journal of Labor & Development*, 2(1): 11.
- Lang, Daniel J., Arnim Wiek, Matthias Bergmann, Michael Stauffacher, Pim Marten, Mark Swilling, and Christopher J. Thomas. (2012). "Transdisciplinary research in sustainability science: practice, principles, and challenges" *Sustainability Science* 7: 25-43.
- Laroche, Patrice. (2020). Unions, Collective Bargaining, and Firm Performance. Essen: Global Labor Organization, Working Paper No. 728.
- Lavelle, Jonathan, Patrick Gunnigle, and Anthony McDonnell, A. (2010). "Patterning employee voice in multinational companies." *Human Relations*, 63(3):395–418.
- LeBaron, Genevieve. (2020). Combatting Modern Slavery: Why Labour Governance Is Failing and What We Can Do About It. London: Polity.
- -----. (2021a). "A Market in Deception? Ethically Certifying Exploitative Supply Chains." In Genevieve LeBaron and Jessica R. Pliley (Eds.) *Fighting Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p. 156–78.
- -----. (2021b). "Wages: An Overlooked Dimension of Business and Human Rights in Global Supply Chains." *Business and Human Rights Journal* 6(1):1–20.
- LeBaron, Genevieve and Nicola Phillips. (2019). "States and the Political Economy of Unfree Labour." New Political Economy 24(1):1–21.
- Lee, Tamara L. and Maite Tapia. (2021). "Confronting Race and Other Social Identity Erasures: The Case for Critical Industrial Relations Theory." *ILR Review* 74(3):637-662.
- Lee, Tamara L., Sheri Davis-Faulkner, Naomi R. Williams, and Maite Tapia. (Eds). (2022). *A Racial Reckoning in Industrial Relations*. Labor and Employment Relations Association Research Volume.
- Levi, Margaret, David Olson, Jon Agnone, and Devin Kelly. (2009). "Union Democracy Reexamined." *Politics and Society* 37(2):203–28.
- Li, Chunyun and Sarosh Kuruvilla. 2022. "Corporate codes of conduct and labour turnover in global apparel supply chains." *British Journal of Industrial Relations* DOI: 10.1111/bjir.12705.
- Lindgren, K. (2016). "Justice In the Fields: A Report on the Role of Farmworker Justice

 Certification and an Evaluation of the Effectiveness of Seven Labels." Fair World Project,

 https://fairworldproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Justice-In-The-Fields-Report.pdf.
- Locke, Richard. 2013. The Promise and Limits of Private Power, Cambridge University Press.
- Liu, Chuxuan and Friedman, Eli. (2021). "Resistance under the Radar: Organization of Work and Collective Action in China's Food Delivery Industry." *China Journal*, 86(1), 68–89.

- Maffie, Michael. (2022a). "Becoming a Pirate: Independence as an alternative to exit in the gig economy. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* https://doi.org/10.1111/bjir.12668
- -----. (2022b). "The Perils of Laundering Control through Customers: A Study of Control and Resistance in the Ride-hail Industry" ILR Review 75(2): 267-524.
- -----. (2022c). "The Role of Digital Communities in Organizing Gig Workers," *Industrial Relations*, 59(1): 123-149.
- Makita, Rie. (2012). "Fair trade certification: The case of tea plantation workers in India." *Development Policy Review*, 30, 87–107.
- Mander, Jerry and Edward Goldsmith. (1996). *The Case Against the Global Economy*. San Francisco: Sierra Club Books.
- Mann, Michael. (1973). *Consciousness and Action Among the Western Working Class*. London: MacMillan
- Mann, Susan A. and James M. Dickinson. (1978). "Obstacles to the development of a capitalist agriculture." *Journal of Peasant Studies*. 5:466–481.
- Mapadimeng, S. M. (1998). Workplace representation through the workplace forums in contemporary South Africa: Opportunities and constraints. *Society in Transition*, 29(3/4), 93.
- Massey, Douglas S., Jorge Durand, and Nolan J. Malone. (2003). *Beyond Smoke and Mirrors:*Mexican Immigration in an Era of Economic Integration. New York: Russell Sage.
- McMichael, Philip. (2013). *Food Regimes and Agrarian Questions*. Halifax and Winnpeg: Fernwood Publishing.
- McNicholas, Celine, Margaret Poydock, Julia Wolfe, Ben Zipperer, Gordon Lafer, and Lola Loustaunau. (2019). "Unlawful: U.S. employers are charged with violating federal law in 41.5% of all union election campaigns." Washington, DC: Economic Policy Institute. https://www.epi.org/publication/unlawful-employer-opposition-to-union-election-campaigns/
- Meidner, Rudolf. (1978) *Employee Investment Funds: An Approach to Collective Capital Formation*. London: Allen and Unwin.
- -----. (1993) Why did the Swedish model fail? In *Socialist Register* by Ralph Miliband and Leo Panitch (Eds). London: Merlin, p. 225–242.
- Merk, Jeroen. (2007). *The private regulation of labour standards: The case of the apparel and footwear industries*. New York: Routledge.
- Metcalf, David. (2002). "Unions and Productivity, Financial Performance and Investment: International Evidence." Discussion Paper 539, Centre for Economic Performance, London School of Economics.
- Metcalf, David, Kirstine Hansen, and Andy Charlwood. (2001). "Unions and the Sword of Justice: Unions and Pay Systems, Pay Inequality, Pay Discrimination and Low Pay". *National Institute Economic Review* 176 (April 2021): 61–75
- Middlebrook, K. J. (1995). *The paradox of revolution: labor, the state, and authoritarianism in Mexico*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Mishel, Lawrence and Josh Bivens. (2021). "Identifying the policy levers generating wage suppression and wage inequality." Washington: Economic Policy Institute.
- Montes de Oca, Paulina. (2021). "Una perspectiva mexicana sobre el Sistema de Visa H2:

 Abusos cometidos en las cadenas de suministros en cuatro corredores migratorios."

- Ciudad de México: Proyecto de Derechos Económicos, Sociales y Culturales A.C. (ProDESC). https://prodesc.org.mx/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/perspectiva-mexicana-sobre-el-sistema-de-visas-h2.pdf
- Montgomery, David. (1979). Workers' control in America: studies in the history of work, technology, and labor struggles. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Morissey 2021
- Moody, Kim. (1997). "Towards an International Movement Unionism." *New Left Review* 225: 52-72.
- Morales Ramírez, G. F. (2021). Apuntes para la implementación de la reforma laboral en el poder judicial de la Ciudad de México. *Alegatos Revista Jurídica de La Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana*, 108, 167–199.
- Morrell, Kevin and Adrian Wilkinson. (2002). "Empowerment: through the smoke and past the mirrors?" *Human Resource Development International*, 5(1):119–130.
- Morrissey, Monique. (2021). "Unions can reduce the public-sector pay gap." Washington, Economic Policy Institute, https://www.epi.org/publication/unions-public-sector-pay-gap/#update.
- Mosoetsa, Sarah, Joel Stillerman, and Chris Tilly. (2016). "Precarious Labor, South and North: An Introduction." *International Labor and Working-Class History* 89(89):5–19.
- Mowbray, Paula. K., Adrian Wilkinson, & Herman H.M. Tse. (2015). An Integrative Review of Employee Voice: Identifying a Common Conceptualization and Research Agenda. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 17(3), 382–400.
- Müller, T., Platzer, H.-W. and Rüb, S. (2008) 'International Framework Agreements— Opportunities and Limitations of a New Tool of Global Trade Union Policy', Briefing Paper No. 8, Friedrich Ebert Stiftung
- Natali, David, Emmanuele Pavolini, and Bart Vanhercke, eds. (2018). *Occupational Welfare in Europe: Risks, Opportunities and Social Partner Involvement*. Brussels: European Trade Union Institute.
- Niforou, Christina. (2012) International framework agreements and industrial relations governance: Global rhetoric versus local realities. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 50(2): 352–373.
- -----. (2014) International framework agreements and the democratic deficit of global labour governance. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 35(2): 367–386.
- Nolan, J., & van Heerden, A. (2013). "Engaging business in the business of human rights," in *Principled engagement: Negotiating human rights in repressive states,* edited by M. Pedersen & D. Kinley, Farnham, UK: Ashgate, p. 153–170.
- O'Brady, Sean; Doellgast, Virginia. (2021). "Collective Voice and Worker Well-Being: Union Influence on Performance Monitoring and Emotional Exhaustion in Call Centers." *Industrial Relations*. 60(3): 307-37.
- Ocampo Merlo, R. E. (2022). "Reforma laboral en México: una reconstrucción de su negociación y sus potencialidades prácticas." *Espiral*, 29(84), 9–42.
- O'Rourke, D. (1997). "Smoke from a Hired Gun: A Critique of Nike's Labour and Environmental Auditing in Viet Nam, as Performed by Ernst & Young." San Francisco: Transnational Resource and Action Center.
- Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). (2019). "Negotiating Our Way Up: Collective Bargaining in a Changing World of Work." Paris: OECD Publishing.

- Owoo, Nkechi S., Monica Puoma Lambon-Quayefio, Jorge Dávalos, and Samuel B. Manu. (2020). "Union 'Facilitation Effect' and Access to Non-Wage Benefits in the Ghanaian Labour Market." Oxford Development Studies 48(3):240–55.
- Panitch, Leo and Sam Gindin. (2012). *The Making of Global Capitalism: The Political Economy of American Empire*. London and New York: Verso.
- Parker M (1998) "Appealing for democracy." New Labor Forum 3: 57–73.
- Parolin, Zachary and Tom VanHeuvelen. (2023). "The Cumulative Advantage of a Unionized Career for Lifetime Earnings." *ILR Review* 76(2): 434-460.
- Perea, Juan. (2011). "The Echoes of Slavery: Recognizing the Racist Origins of the Agricultural and Domestic Worker Exclusion from the National Labor Relations Act" *Ohio State Law Journal* 72(1):95-138.
- Phillips, N., & Sakamoto, L. (2012). "Global production networks, chronic poverty and 'slave labour' in Brazil." *Studies in Comparative International Development*, 47(3), 287–315
- Pike, Kelly. (2020). "Voice in Supply Chains: Does the Better Work Program Lead to Improvements in Labor Standards Compliance?" *ILR Review* 73(4): 913-938.
- Pitkin, Daisy. (2022). On the Line: A Story of Class, Solidarity, and Two Women's Epic Fight to Build a Union. Chapel Hill, NC: Algonquin Books.
- Pitts, Steven. (2008). "Unionization and Black Workers," *The American Prospect* 19(10): A19-A21.
- Piven, Frances Fox. (2008). *Challenging Authority: How Ordinary People Change America*. Plymouth, MS: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Polanyi, Karl. (1944). The great transformation. New York, Toronto: Farrar & Rinehart, Inc.
- Polaski, Sandra. (2022). "The Strategy and Politics of Linking Trade and Labor Standards: An Overview of Issues and Approaches." In *Handbook on Globalisation and Labour Standards*, ed. Kimberly Ann Elliott. MA: Edward Elgar.
- Pons-Vignon, Nicolas and Phumzile Ncube. Editors. (2012). Confronting Finance: Mobilizing the 99% for economic and social progress. Geneva: ILO Bureau for Workers' Activities (ACTRAV) and Global Labour University. ISBN 978-92-2-126214-5
- Pontusson, Jonas. (2013). "Unionization, Inequality and Redistribution". *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 51 (4): 797–825.
- Pontusson, Jonas, and David Rueda. (2010). "The Politics of Inequality: Voter Mobilization and Left Parties in Advanced Industrial States". *Comparative Political Studies* 43 (6): 675–705.
- Potter, M., & Hamilton, J. (2014). Picking on vulnerable migrants: Precarity and the mushroom industry in Northern Ireland. Work, *Employment and Society*, 28(3), 390–406
- Potts, J., M. Lynch, A. Wilkings, G. Huppe, M. Cunningham, & V. Voora (Eds.). (2014). *The state of sustainability initiatives review*. Winnipeg/London: International Institute for Sustainable Development /International Institute for Environment and Development.
- Press, Alex. (2022). "A Stunning New Chapter Begins for Amazon Warehouse Workers." *Jacobin*, https://jacobin.com/2022/04/amazon-labor-union-victory-jfk8-staten-island-bessemer (accessed 2 April 2022).
- ProDESC. "Transnational Laboral Justice Corridor / Corredor de Justicia Laboral Trasnacional" [website] https://prodesc.org.mx/en/transnational-laboral-justice-corridor/ (last accessed 2/4/23)

- Pulignano, Valeria, Guglielmo Meardi, and Nadja Doerflinger. (2015). "Trade Unions and Labour Market Dualisation: A Comparison of Policies and Attitudes towards Agency and Migrant Workers in Germany and Belgium." Work, Employment and Society 29(5):808–25.
- Quan, Katie. (1998). "Impact of Globalisation on Labour Rights in the Apparel Industry." International Union Rights 5(4):21–22.
- -----. (2000). "State of the Art of Social Dialogue U.S.A." Geneva: ILO.
- -----. (2004). "Unions Need to Talk." International Union Rights 11(4):5.
- Quinn, Slobodian. (2023). Crack-Up Capitalism: Market Radicals and the Dream of a World Without Democracy. MacMillan
- Rachleff, Peter. (2001). "Why Participation? Lessons from the Past for the Future: A Response to Charles Hecksher's Article, 'Participatory Unionism.'" *Labor Studies Journal* 25(4):19–26.
- Rae, Madeline. (2021). Will Google's New Union Change Its Company Culture? London: Sage Publications.
- Rao, S. (2011). Work and empowerment: Women and agriculture in South India. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 47(2),294–315.
- Rathgens, Julius, Stefan Gröschner, and Henrik von Wehrden. (2020). "A systematic review of alternative trade arrangements in the global food sector." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 276:1-11.
- Raynolds, Laura T. (2021). "Gender Equity, Labor Rights, and Women's Empowerment: Lessons from Fairtrade Certification in Ecuador Flower Plantations." *Agriculture and Human Values* 38(3):657–75.
- Raynolds, Laura T. and Claudia Rosty. (2021). "Fair Trade USA Coffee Plantation Certification: Ramifications for Workers in Nicaragua." *Development Policy Review* 39(S1):O102–21.
- Rees. A. (1962). The Economics of Trade Unions. Chicago: University of Illinois Press.
- Reynolds, Morgan O. (1986). "Trade unions in the production process reconsidered." *Journal of Political Economy*, 94(2): 443-447.
- Riisgaard, Lone. (2005). "International framework agreements: A new model for securing workers rights?" *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 44 (4): 707–737.
- -----. (2009). "Global value chains, labor organization and private social standards: Lessons from East African cut flower industries." World Development, 37, 326–340.
- Rivera Salgado, Gaspar. (2015). "From Hometown Clubs to Transnational Social Movement: The Evolution of Oaxacan Migrant Associations in California," *Social Justice* 42(3/4): 118-136.
- Robertson, R., Lopez-Acevedo, G., & Savchenko, Y. (2020). Globalisation and the gender earnings gap: Evidence from Sri Lanka and Cambodia. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 56(2), 295–313.
- Robinson, Cedric J. 2000[1983]. *Black Marxism: The Making of the Black Radical Tradition*. Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press
- Robinson, Chris. (1989). The joint determination of union status and union wage effects. *Journal of Political Economy*, 97: 639–667.
- Roediger, David, Susan Porter Benson, Fernando E. Gapasin, Ajuma Dillahunt, and Katie Quan. (2001). "The End of Whiteness? Reflections on a Demographic Landmark." *New Labor Forum* 8(8):48–62.

- Rosenfeld, Jake. (2006a). "Desperate Measures: Strikes and Wages in Post-Accord America," Social Forces 85(1): 235–65
- -----. (2006b). "Widening the Gap: The Effect of Declining Unionization on Managerial and Worker Pay, 1983-2000." *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility* 24(3):223–38.
- Rosenfeld, Jake, Patrick Denice, and Jennifer Laird. 2016. "Union decline lowers wages of nonunion workers." Washington: Economic Policy Instutite.
- Rosenfeld, Jake and Meredith Kleykamp. (2012). "Organized Labor and Racial Wage Inequality in the United States." *American Journal of Sociology* 117(5):1460–1502.
- Rueda, David. (2005). "Insider-Outsider Politics in Industrialized Democracies: The Challenge to Social Democratic Parties." *The American Political Science Review* 99(1):61–74.
- ----- (2014). "Dualization , Crisis and the Welfare State." *Socio-Economic Review* (12):381–407.
- Scherer, A. G., Palazzo, G., & Baumann, D. (2006). Global rules and private actors: Toward a new role of the TNC in global governance. *Business Ethics Quarterly*. 16:505–532.
- Sciacchitano, Katherine. (2000). "Unions, Organizing, and Democracy: Living in One's Time, Building for the Future." *Dissent* 47(2):75.
- Schoon, Michael and Michael E. Cox. (2018). "Collaboration, adaptation, and scaling: perspectives on environmental governance for sustainability." *Sustainability* 10, 679.
- Shih, Elena, Jennifer (JJ) Rosenbaum, and Penelope Kyritsis. (2021). "Undermining Labor Power." in Genevieve LeBaron and Jessica R. Pliley (Eds.) *Fighting Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 141–55.
- Siegmann, K. A., Merk, J., & Knorringa, P. (2017). Positive class compromise in globalized production? The Freedom of Association Protocol in the Indonesian sportswear industry. *International Labour Review*, 156, 345–365.
- Silvia, Stephen. (2020). The Transnational Activities of German Trade Unions and Works

 Councils: From Foreign Policy to Active Engagement. *German Politics* 29(3): 404-421.
- Sarkar, S. and Kuruvilla, S. (2020). "Constructing Transnational Solidarity: The Role of Campaign Governance." *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 58: 27-49.
- Sassen, Saskia. (2002). *The Global City: New York, London, Tokyo*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Seidman, Gay. (1994). *Manufacturing Militance: Workers' Movements in Brazil and South Africa, 1970-1985.* Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Sennett, Richard. (2006). *The Culture of the New Capitalism*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Serrano, M. R. (2016). "The (missing) link between wages and productivity in the Philippines: what role for collective bargaining and the new two-tier wage system?" Conditions of Work and Employment Series, 59. Geneva: ILO.
- Sharpe, Teresa. 2004. "Union Democracy and Successful Campaigns." in *Rebuilding labor:* organizing and organizers in the new union movement, edited by R. Milkman and K. Voss. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Silver, Beverly. (2003) Forces of Labour: Workers' Movements and Globalization Since 1870. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Simon, David and Friedrich Schiemer. (2015). "Crossing boundaries: complex systems, transdisciplinarity and applied impact agendas" *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 12(February 2015): 6-11.
- Simons, Henry C. (1944). "Some Reflections on Syndicalism." *Journal of Political Economy*, 52(1):1-25.
- Sneiderman, Marilyn and Stephen Lerner. 2022. "Making Hope and History Rhyme: A New Worker Movement from the Shell of the Old" *New Labor Forum* (December).
- Sochas, Laura and Aaron Reeves. (2022). "Does Collective Bargaining Reduce Health Inequalities between Labour Market Insiders and Outsiders?" *Socio-Economic Review* 00(0):1–36.
- Social Accountability International (SAI) 2022. "SAI Launches MY Voice with funding from USDOL" https://sa-intl.org/sai-launches-my-voice/ (accessed 8 August 2023).
- Strauss, George. 1991. "Union Democracy." Institute for Research on Labor and Employment (IRLE) Working Paper #30–91. Berkeley: UC Berkeley.
- Stiglitz, Joseph E. (2003). *Globalization and Its Discontents*. New York and London: W.W. Norton & Company.
- Stringer, C., Whittaker, D., & Simmons, G. (2016). New Zealand's turbulent waters: The use of forced labour in the fishing industry. *Global Networks*, 16(1), 3–24.
- Suwandi, Intan. (2019). *Value Chains: The New Economic Imperialism*. New York: Monthly Review Press.
- Svarstad, Elin; Kostol, Fredrik B. (2022). "Unions, Collective Agreements and Productivity: A Firm-Level Analysis Using Norwegian Matched Employer-Employee Panel Data." *British Journal of Industrial Relations*. 60(4): 864-894.
- Tilly, Chris, Rina Agarwala, Sarah Mosoetsa, Pun Ngai, Carlos Salas, and Hina Sheikh. (2013). "Final Report: Informal Worker Organizing as a Strategy for Improving Subcontracted Work in the Textile and Apparel Industries of Brazil, South Africa, India and China." Institute for Research on Labor and Employment, University of California Los Angeles.
- Toussaint, Eric. (2005). *Your Money [or] Your Life: The Tyranny of Global Finance*. Chicago: Haymarket.
- Turnbull, Peter. (2003). "What do unions do now?" Journal of Labor Research, 24(3): 491-527.
- Tzannatos, Z., & Aidt, T. S. (2006). "Unions and microeconomic performance: A look at what matters for economists (and employers)." *International Labour Review*, 145(4): 257–278.
- United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service (USDA ERS). (2021). "Top 4, 8, and 20 firms' share of U.S. grocery store sales, 1992-2016." USDA ERS, using data from U.S. Census Bureau, Monthly Retail Trade Survey, company annual reports, and industry sources. Sales based on North American Industry Classification System (NAICS). https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/chart-gallery/gallery/chart-detail/?chartId=54628
- U.S. Department of Labor (USDOL). (2018). "Findings from the National Agricultural Workers Survey (NAWS) 2015-2016: A Demographic and Employment Profile of United States Farmworkers, Research Report No. 13." https://www.dol.gov/agencies/eta/national-agri-cultural-workers-survey/research

- -----. (2022a) "The Union Advantage" [website]

 https://www.dol.gov/general/workcenter/union-advantage (last accessed 10 January 2023).
- -----. (2022b) "US Department of Labor Announces \$5M Cooperative Agreement to Promote Worker Voice, Labor Rights in Brazil, Paraguay.

 https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/releases/ilab/ilab20230328 (accessed 8 August 2023).
- Vallas, Steven and Juliet B. Schor. (2020). "What Do Platforms Do? Understanding the Gig Economy," *Annual Review of Sociology* 46: 16.1-16.22.
- Van Dyne, Linn and Jeffrey A. LePine. (1998). Helping and voice extra-role behaviors: evidence of construct and predictive validity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 41(1): 108–119.
- van der Linden, Marcel. (2008). Workers of the World: Essays toward a Global Labor History. Leiden, Boston: Brill.
- Vandaele, Kurt. (2018). "Will Trade Unions Survive in the Platform Economy? Emerging Patterns of Platform Workerss Collective Voice and Representation in Europe"

 WorkingPaper2018.05. Brussels: European Trade Union Institute.
- Vanpeperstraete, Ben. (2021). "The Rana Plaza Collapse and the Case for Enforceable Agreements with Apparel Brands" in *Transnational Legal Activism in Global Value Chains*, edited by Miriam Saage-Maaß, Pee Zumbansen, Michael Bader, Palvasha Shabab. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Van Tulder, R. (2012). "The necessity of multi-stakeholder initiatives." In *Multi-stakeholder initiatives: A strategic guide for civil society organizations*, edited by van Huijstee, M. SOMO. http://somo.nl/news-en/somo-publishes-strategic-guide-on-multi-stakeholder-initiatives-for-civil-society-organizations.
- Vaughan-Whitehead, Daniel, and Rosalia Vazquez-Alvarez. (2018). "Curbing Inequalities in Europe: The Impact of Industrial Relations and Labour Policies". In Reducing Inequalities in Europe: How Industrial Relations and Labour Policies Can Close the Gap, edited by Daniel Vaughan-Whitehead, Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar; Geneva: ILO, 1–67.
- Visser, Jelle. (1998). "European Trade Unions in the Mid-1990s." *Industrial Relations Journal European Annual Review*, 113-30.
- ----- (2019). "Can unions revitalize themselves?" *International Journal of Labour Research* 9(1-2): 17–48.
- Visser, Jelle, and Daniele Checchi. (2011). "Inequality and the Labor Market: Unions". In *The Oxford Handbook of Economic Inequality*, edited by Brian Nolan, Wiemer Salverda and Timothy M. Smeeding, 230–256. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Vogt, Jeffrey. (2021). "Access to Labour Justice." *The Global Labour Rights Reporter*. 1(1): 4-6.
- Vogt, Jeffrey, Janice Bellace, Lance Compa, K D Ewing, John Hendy QC, Klaus Lörcher. (2020). The Right To Strike In International Law. New York: Bloomsbury Publishing
- Walia, Harsha and Robin D.G. Kelley. (2021). *Border & rule: global migration, capitalism, and the rise of racist nationalism*. Chicago, Illinois: Haymarket Books.
- Walton, Richard E, and Robert B. McKersie. (1965). *A Behavioral Theory of Labor Negotiations*. Ithaca: ILR.
- Waterman, Peter. (2008). "A trade union internationalism for the 21st century: meeting the challenges from above, below and beyond," in *Labour and the Challenges of*

- Globalization: What Prospects for Transnational Solidarity? Andreas Bieler, Ingemar Lindberg, and Devan Pillay (eds.), Pluto Press, 248-263.
- Webb, Mrs. Sidney. (1902). The Case for the Factory Acts. London: Grant Richards.
- Webb, Sidney and Beatrice Webb. (1896). *The history of trade unionism*. London, New York, Longmans, Green and Co.
- Webb, Sidney and Beatrice Webb. (1897). Industrial Democracy. London: Longmans.
- Weil, David. (2014). The Fissured Workplace: Why Work Became So Bad for So Many and What Can Be Done to Improve It. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Western, B. and J. Rosenfeld. 2011. "Unions, Norms, and the Rise in U. S. Wage Inequality." American Sociological Review 76(4):513–37.
- Wiek, Arnim and Daniel J. Lang. (2016). Transformational sustainability research methodology. In: Heinrichs, H., Martens, P., Michelsen, G., Wiek, A. (Eds.), *Sustainability Science: an Introduction*. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 31-41
- Wills, Jane, Kavita Datta, Yara Evans, Joanna Herbert, Jon May, and Cathy McIlwaine. (2009). London: Pluto Press.
- Women Innovating Labor Leadership (WILL Empower). n.d. [website] https://www.willempower.org/ (last accessed 2/16/2023)
- Wood, Alex J., Vili Lehdonvirta and Mark Graham. (2022). "Workers of the Internet unite? Online freelancer organisation among remote gig economy workers in six Asian and African countries." *New Technology, Work and Employment* 33(2): 95-112.
- Wood, Ellen Meiksins. (2002). The Origin of Capitalism: A Longer View. London: Verso.
- Worker Rights Consortium (WRC). (2021). "Lesotho Garment Worker Program to Combat Gender-Based Violence Begins." [webpage]

 https://www.workersrights.org/commentary/lesotho-garment-worker-program-to-combat-gender-based-violence-begins/ (last accessed 4 April 2023).
- World Bank. (2019). "Employment in agriculture (% of total employment) (modeled ILO estimate)." Data. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.AGR.EMPL.ZS (accessed 13 August 2019).
- -----. (2023). "Unemployment, total (% of total labor force) (modeled ILO estimate). *Data* [database]. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.UEM.TOTL.ZS (last accessed 4 March 2023).
- Wright, Eric O. (2000) "Working-class Power, Capitalist-class Interests, and Class Compromise." American Journal of Sociology, 105(4): 957–1002.
- Yea, S. (2017). The art of not being caught: Temporal strategies for disciplining unfree labour in Singapore's contract migration. *Geoforum*, 78, 179–188.
- Zukoski, A. and M. Luluquisen (2002). "Participatory Evaluation: What is it? Why do it? What are the challenges?" *Community Based Public Health Policy & Practice* 5: 1-6.